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Ferguson Finance plc
Annual report and financial statements
for the year ended 31 July 2022

Strategic report
Business review and future developments
Ferguson Finance ple {the "Company”) is a wholly owned subsidiary of Ferguson ple.

The principal activity of the Company is that of a financing company for the Ferguson plc Group (the "Group™).
There have been no significant changes in the Company's principal activity in the year under review. At the date
of this report the directors do not foresee there will be any major changes in the Company's activities in the next
year, although the Company may continue to be utilised to raise further external finance for the Group in the
future.

The balance sheet on page 13 of the financial statements shows the Company's financial position at 31 July 2022.

In April 2022, the Company issued notes in the USA bond market of $300 million 5 year 4.25% notes, maturing
in April 2027 and $700 million 10 year 4.65% notes, maturing in April 2032. The Company immediately lent this
money on to its parent company, Ferguson UK Holdings Limited.

The prefit for the financial year amounted to $2 million (2021 - $2 million).
Principal risks and uncertainties

The Company does not have any operations that are external to the Group and therefore its financial risks are
governed by the Group policies and procedures. The Group is exposed to market risks arising from its international
operations. The Group has well defined and consistently applied policies for the management of foreign exchange
and interest rate exposures. There has been no change since the year end in the major financial risks faced by
the Group. The main risks arising from the Group's financial instruments are interest rate risk, liquidity risk and
foreign currency risk. The treasury committee of Ferguson plc reviews and agrees policies for managing each of
these risks for the Group and these policies are regularly reviewed and updated.

Group risk factors are discussed in the Group's Annual Report for the year ended 31 July 2022 which does not
form part of this report and can be found on the Ferguson plc website. These risk factors are all relevant to the
Company due to the Company’s position in the Group, however, the following risk factor is considered to be the
principatl risk of the Company:

» Changes in our credit ratings and outlook may reduce access to capital and increase borrowing costs.
s We may not be able to access the capital and credit markets on terms that are favourable to us.

How the Group manages its risks is discussed in the Group’s ESG report that can be found on the Ferguson ple
website.

The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the assets and liabilities of the Company has been fully assessed and
management concluded that there was no material impact from the pandemic on the financial statements. The
Company is reliant on the future successful trading of the wider Ferguson Group which took a number of protective
measures in connection with COVID-19 but has since returned to normal operations. Due to the unpredictability
of the COVID-19 pandemic, it is possible that protective measures could be reinstated which could impact the
resulis and operations of the Group. The Group’s strong performance during the pandemic has provided comfort
of the Group's resilience should this occur and for the recoverability of the Company's assets.

Financial key performance indicators

Given the straightforward nature of the business, the Company's directors are of the opinion that analysis using
key performance indicators is not necessary for an understanding of the development, performance or position of
the business.
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Strategic report {continued)
Section 172(1) statement

Section 172 of the Companies Act 2006 requires a director of a company to act in the way he or she considers, in
good faith, would most likely promote the success of the company for the benefit of its members as a whole. In
doing so, section 172 requires directors to have regard to, amongst other matters, the:

Likely consequences of any decisions in the long-term;

Interests of the company’s employees;

Need to foster the company's business relationships with customers, suppliers and others;
Impact on the company’s operation on the community and environment;

Desirability of the company maintaining a reputation for high standards of business conduct; and
Need to act fairly as between members of the company.

In discharging our section 172 duties we have had regard to the factors set out above. In addition, we also have
regard to other factors which we consider relevant to the decision being made. Those factors for example include
the interest and views of members of the Group and our relationship with lenders. The Group aims to act as a
trusted supplier and partner to its customers, providing innovative solutions to make their projects better. By
considering the Group's purpose, vision, values and policies, we aim to ensure that our decisions are consistent
and appropriate in all circumstances.

We delegate authority for day to day management of the Company to senior management. Board meetings are
held periodically where the directors censider the Company’s activities and make decisions. As part of those
meetings the directors receive information in a range of different formats which includes information relevant to
section 172 matters when making relevant decisions, for example, when making decisions about the payment of
dividends.

As the principal activity of the Company is to act as a financing company for other entities in the Group, the
Company has no commercial business, no employees and no customers cor suppliers other than Group companies
during the period and as such the breadth of stakeholder considerations that would often apply in operating or
commercial trading companies have generally not applied to the decisions made by the directors. The Company’s
key stakeholders are its shareholder, creditors and other Group undertakings..

The Company is a wholly owned subsidiary of Ferguscn plc (the “Parent”} and whilst the Company is required to
set out how its Board discharges its duties under 5172 of the Companies Act 2006, this statement should be viewed
in the context of the Company’s position as a subsidiary of a listed parent and part of a wider Group. Further details
of how Ferguson pic undertook its responsibilities during the financial year and details of Group wide
considerations, for example, in relation to the impact of the Group's operations on the community and environment
and the desirability of maintaining a reputation for high standards of business conduct, can be found in the Group’s
ESG report which is on the Ferguson plc website at www fergusonplc.com.

This report was approved by the board and signed on its behalf.

Paul Brooks
Director
Date: 15 December 2022

1020 Eskdate Road
Winnersh Triangle
Woaokingham
Berkshire

RG41 5TS
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Directors’ report

The directors present their annual report on the affairs of the Company, together with the financial statements and
auditor's repaort for the year ended 31 July 2022,

Directors
The directers who served during the year and up to the date of signing the financial statements were:

P Brooks

A J F Burton {appointed 1 November 2022)

| T Graham

J A Mattison

N M O McCawley (resigned 31 October 2022)
K M McCormick

G Middlemiss (resigned 31 October 2022)

Dividends
There have been no dividends paid in the year (2021 - $nil).
Directors' responsibilities statement

The directors are responsible for preparing the Strategic report, the Directors' report and the financial statements
in accordance with applicable law and regulaticns.

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law the
directors have elected to prepare the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and United Kingdom
Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice), including Financial Reporting
Standard 102 ‘The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland’. Under company
law the directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the profit or loss of the Company for that period. In preparing
these financial statements, the directors are required to:

. select suitable accounting policies for the Company's financial statements and then apply them
consistently;
make judgments and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent;
state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards have been followed, subject to any material departures
disclosed and explained in the financial statements; and

. prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the
Company will continue in business.

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain
the Company's transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the
Company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. They
are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the
prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

Directors’ indemnities

The Company has made qualifying third party indemnity provisions for the benefit of its directors which were made
during the year and remain in force at the date of this report.
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Directors’ report (continued)

Disclosure of information to auditor

Each of the persons who are directors at the time when this Directors' report is approved has confirmed that:

» so far as the director is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the Company's auditor is
unaware; and

« the director has taken all the steps that ought to have been taken as a director in order to be aware of any
relevant audit information and to establish that the Company's auditor is aware of that information.

This confirmation is given and should be interpreted in accordance with the provisions of s418 of the Companies
Act 2006.

Matters covered in the strategic report

Information relating to future developments and financial risk management are provided in the Strategic report on
page 2.

Going concern

In light of the principal risks and uncertainties outlined in the Strategic Report on page 2, the Company’s directors
have a reasonable expectation that the Company will be able to continue in operational existence for the
foreseeable future, thus they continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting in preparing the annual
financial staternents (note 1.2).

Auditor

Deloitte LLP have been deemed re-appointed under section 487 of the Companies Act 2006.

This report was approved by the board and sighed on its behalf.

)7

Paul Brooks
Director
Date: 15 December 2022

1020 Eskdale Road
Winnersh Triangle
Wokingham
Berkshire

RG41 5TS
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Independent auditor’'s report to the members of Ferguson Finance pic

Report on the audit of the financial statements

1. QOpinion

In our opinion the financial statements of Ferguson Finance plc (the ‘company’):

s give a true and fair view of the state of the company’s affairs as at 31 July 2022 and of its profit for the year
then ended;

+ have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice,
including Financial Reporting Standard 102 *The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and
Republic of Ireland”; and

+ have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

We have audited the financial statements which comprise:

e the profit and loss account;

s« the balance sheet;

« the statement of changes in equity; and

» the related notes 1 to 16.

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and United Kingdom
Accounting Standards, including Financial Reporting Standard 102 “The Financial Reporting Standard applicable
in the UK and Republic of Ireland” (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).

2. Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with international Standards on Auditing (UK) {ISAs (UK)) and applicable
law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the auditor's responsibilities for the audit
of the financial statements section of our report.

We are independent of the company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of
the financial statements in the UK, including the Financial Reporting Council's (the ‘FRC’s'} Ethical Standard as
applied to listed public interest entities, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with
these requirements. Services were provided by Deloitte LLP in relation to the issuance of the bond during the
current year which has been disclosed under Note 3: Audit remuneration. We confirm that we have not provided
any non-audit services prohibited by the FRC’s Ethical Standard to the company.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.

3. Summary of our audit approach

Key audit matters The key audit matter that we identified in the current year was:
« Recoverability of debtors from group undertakings

Materiality The materiality that we used in the current year was $3,310,000 which was
determined on the basis of 5% of total expenses.

Scoping Audit work to respond to the risks of material misstatement was performed directly
by the audit engagement team.

Significant changes in There have been no significant changes in approach compared to the prior year.
our approach
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of Ferguson Finance plc (continued)

4. Conclusions relating to going concern

In auditing the financial statements, we have conciuded that the directors’ use of the going concern basis of
accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate.

Cur evaluation of the directors’ assessment of the company’s ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis
of accounting included:

+« Evaluating the company’s existing access to sources of financing, including undrawn committed bank
facilities that it shares with its parent and fellow subsidiaries;

s Assessing the reasonableness and likelihood of future interest receivable from group undertakings by
considering the historical performance of the Group undertakings, including the impact of COVID-19 on
operations during the year as well as pcost balance sheet performance of the Group undertakings;

s Evaluating the recoverability of debtors from group undertakings as discussed in section 5.1; and

« Assessing the appropriateness of the going concern disclosures in the financial statements.

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or
conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the company’s ability to continue as a
going concern for a period of at least twelve months from when the financial statements are authorised for issue.

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors with respect to going concern are described in the
relevant sections of this report.

5. Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of
the financial statements of the current period and include the most significant assessed risks of material
misstatement (whether or not due to fraud) that we identified. These matters included those which had the greatest
effect on: the overall audit strategy, the allocation of resources in the audit; and directing the efforts of the
engagement team.

These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in ferming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

5.1. Recoverability of debtors from group undertakings

Key audit matter Debtors from group undertakings are stated in the balance sheet at $2,375m (2021:
description $1,362m).
Judgement is required by the directors in determining the recoverability of these
debters from group undertakings based on the financial position and future prospects
of the group undertakings. This takes into consideration a range of factors such as
the underlying trading performance of the group undertakings and expected dividend
growth.
Further details are included within the strategic report on page 2 and notes 8 and 9
to the financial statements.

How the scope of our We challenged the directors’ judgements regarding the appropriateness of the

audit responded to the carrying value through obtaining a copy of the latest audited financial information of

key audit matter the debtor from group undertakings. We assessed the ability of the group
undertakings to repay these amounts through obtaining an understanding of the
future trading performance of the group undertakings by benchmarking against
industry peers, considering post balance sheet performance of the group
undertakings and obtaining analysts’ reports of expected future performance of the
group undertakings.

Key observations Based on the work performed we concluded that debtors from group undertakings
were appropriately stated. We identified a control finding in this area which is outlined
in Section 7.2 below.




Ferguson Finance plc
Annual report and financial statements
for the year ended 31 July 2022

Independent auditor’s report to the members of Ferguson Finance plc (continued)

6. Our application of materiality

6.1. Materiality
We define materiality as the magnitude of misstatement in the financial statements that makes it probable that
the economic decisions of a reasonably knowledgeable person would be changed or influenced. We use
materiality both in planning the scope of our audit work and in evaluating the results of our work.
Based on our professional judgement, we determined materiality for the financial statements as a whole as
follows:

Materiality $3.310,000 (2021: $2.650,000)
Basis for .

determining 5% (2021: 5%) of {otal expenses
materiality

Rationale for the
benchmark
applied

We determined materiality based on total expenses, being the interest payable to external
bond holders. This is a key metric for lenders and the shareholder, as other group
companies are recharged this cost and it represents a significant portion of total interest
payable by the wider Group.

Total expenses $66m Materiality $3.31m

# Total expenses
4

\  Errorreporting

threshold $0.17m

= Materiality

6.2. Performance materiality

We set performance materiality at a level lower than materiality to reduce the probability that, in aggregate,
uncorrected and undetected misstatements exceed the materiality for the financial statements as a whole.
Performance materiality was set at 70% of materiality for the 2022 audit (2021: 70%). In determining performance
materiality, we considered factors such as our risk assessment, including our assessment of the company's overall
contro! environment and our past experience of the audit, which has indicated a low number of corrected and
uncorrected misstatements identified in prior periods.

6.3. Error reporting threshold

We agreed with the directors that we would report to them all audit differences in excess of $185,500 (2021:
$132,500), as well as differences below that threshold that, in our view, warranted reporting on qualitative grounds.
We also report to the directors on disclosure matters that we identified when assessing the overall presentation
of the financial statements.
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of Ferguson Finance plc (continued)

7. An overview of the scope of our audit

7.1. Scoping

Our audit was scoped by obtaining an understanding of the entity and its environment, including internal control,
and assessing the risks of material misstatement. Audit work to respond to the risks of material misstatement was
performed directly by the audit engagement team.

7.2. Our consideration of the control environment

With the involvement of our IT specialists, we obtained an understanding of the general ledger system. We did
not plan to rely on those controls due to findings identified in the prior year audit which required remediation by
management.

We obtained an understanding of relevant manual business process controls, but did not plan to place reliance
on them, mainly due to the findings noted above. We identified control gaps relating to the assessment of
recoverability of intercompany receivables and the precision of review of interest expenses and concluded that
these findings constituted a significant deficiency in aggregate in internal control.

8. Other information

The other information comprises the information included in the annual report, cther than the financial staterments
and our auditor's report thereon. The directors are responsible for the other information contained within the
annual report.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise
explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the course of the audit, or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine
whether this gives rise to a material misstatement in the financial statements themselves. If, based on the work
we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required
to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

9. Responsibilities of directors

As explained more fully in the directors’ responsibilities statement, the directors are responsible for the preparation
of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the company’s ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis
of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the company or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

10. Auditer’'s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Qur objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditcr’s report that includes our
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with 1SAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the FRC’s website
at: www frc.org uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditor’s report.
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of Ferguson Finance plc (continued)

11.Extent to which the audit was considered capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design procedures
in line with our responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect of irregularities,
including fraud. The extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud is
detailed below.

11.1.ldentifying and assessing potential risks related to irregularities

In identifying and assessing risks of material misstatement in respect of irregularities, including fraud and non-
compliance with laws and regulations, we considered the following:

+ the nature of the industry and sector, control environment and business performance including the design
of the company's remuneration policies, key drivers for directors’ remuneration, bonus levels and
performance targets;

s results of our enquiries of management and the directors about their own identification and assessment
of the risks of irregularities;

+ any matters we identified having obtained and reviewed the company's documentation of their policies
and procedures relating to:

o identifying, evaluating and complying with laws and regulations and whether they were aware of any
instances of non-compliance;

o detecting and responding to the risks of fraud and whether they have knowledge of any actual,
suspected or alleged fraud;

o the internal controls established to mitigate risks of fraud or non-compliance with laws and
regulations;

e the matters discussed among the audit engagement team and relevant internal specialists, including IT
specialists and tax specialist regarding how and where fraud might occur in the financial statements and
any potential indicators of fraud.

As a result of these procedures, we considered the opportunities and incentives that may exist within the
organisation for fraud. In common with all audits under I1SAs (UK), we are also required to perform specific
procedures to respond to the risk of management override.

We also obtained an understanding of the legal and regulatory frameworks that the company operates in, focusing
on provisions of those laws and regulations that had a direct effect on the determination of material amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. The key laws and regulations we considered in this context included the
UK Companies Act.

In addition, we considered provisions of other laws and regulations that do not have a direct effect on the financial
statements but compliance with which may be fundamental to the company's ability to operate or to avoid a
material penalty.

11.2.Audit response to risks identified
As a result of performing the above, we did not identify any key audit matters related to the potential risk of fraud
or non-compliance with laws and regulations.

Our procedures to respond to risks identified included the following:

e reviewing the financial statement disclosures and testing to supporting documentation to assess
compliance with provisions of relevant laws and regulations described as having a direct effect on the
financial statements;

+ enquiring of management and the directors concerning actual and potential litigation and claims;

» performing analytical procedures to identify any unusual or unexpected relationships that may indicate
risks of material misstatement due to fraud;

= reading minutes of meetings of those charged with governance, and

s in addressing the risk of fraud through management override of controls, testing the appropriateness of
journal entries and other adjustments; assessing whether the judgements made in making accounting
estimates are indicative of a potential bias; and evaluating the business rationale of any significant
transactions that are unusual or outside the normal course of business.

We also communicated relevant identified laws and regulations and potential fraud risks to all engagement team
members including internal specialists and remained alert to any indications of fraud or non-compliance with laws
and regulations throughout the audit.

10
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of Ferguson Finance plc (continued)

12.Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:

+ the information given in the strategic report and the directors’ report for the financial year for which the
financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and

» the strategic report and the directors’ report have been prepared in accordance with applicable legal
requirements.

In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the company and its environment obtained in the course of the
audit, we have not identified any material misstatements in the strategic report or the directors’ report.

13. Matters on which we are required to report by exception

13.1.Adequacy of explanations received and accounting records
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion:
+« we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit; or
« adequate accounting records have not been kept, or returns adequate for our audit have not been

received from branches not visited by us; or
+ the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns.

We have nothing to report in respect of these matters.

13.2.Directors’ remuneration

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are also required to report if in our opinion certain disclosures of directors’
remuneration have not been made.

We have nothing to report in respect of this matter.

14. Other matters which we are required to address

141 Auditor tenure

We were appointed by the directors on 17 June 2019 to audit the financial statements for the year ending 31 July
2021 and subsequent financial periods. The period of total uninterrupted engagement including previous renewals
and reappointments of the firm is 4 years, covering the years ending 31 July 2019 to 31 July 2022.

14.2.Consistency of the audit report with the additional report to the directors

Our audit opinion is consistent with the additional report to the directors we are required to provide in accordance
with 1SAs (UK).

15.Use of our report

This report is made solely to the company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of
the Companies Act 2006. Cur audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company's
members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor's report and for no other purpose. To
the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the company
and the company's members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

/
Vs Mooy

Thomas Murray ACA (Senior statutory auditor)
For and on behalf of Deloitte LLP

Statutory Auditor

Reading, United Kingdom

15 December 2022

11
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Profit and loss account
tor the year ended 31 July 2022

2022 2021

Note $m $m

Interest receivable and similar income 5 68 55
Interest payable and similar expenses 6 (66) (53)
Profit before tax 2 2
Tax on profit 7 - -
Profit for the financial year attributable to the 2 2

equity shareholders of the Company

All amounts relate to continuing activities.

There were no recognised gains and losses for 2021 or 2022 other than those included in the profit and loss
account, therefore no Statement of comprehensive income is presented.

12
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Registered number: 11581816

Balance sheet
at 31 July 2022

Note 2022 2021
$m $m $m $m
Current assets
Debtors: amounts falling due after more 8 2350 1350
than one year ’ '
Debtors: amounts falling due within one 9 25 12
year
Cash at bank and in hand 6 4
2,381 1,368
Creditors: amounts falling due within one
year 10 (25) (12)
Net current assets 2,356 1,354
Creditors: amounts falling due after more 11 (2,350) (1,350}
than one year ' '
Net assets 6 4
Capital and reserves
Called up share capital 12 - -
Profit and loss account 13 6 4
6 4

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the board and were signed on its behalf.

)

.

J A Mattison

Director

Date: 15 December 2022

The notes on pages 15 to 19 form part of these financial statements.

13
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Statement of changes in equity
at 31 July 2022

Share Profit and

capital loss account Total equity

$m $m $m

At 31 July 2020 - 2 2
Profit for the financial year - 2 2
At 31 July 2021 - 2 4
Profit for the financial year - 2 2
At 31 July 2022 - 6 8

14



Ferguson Finance plc
Annual report and financial statements
for the year ended 31 July 2022

Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 31 July 2022

1. Accounting policies

1.1 General information and basis of accounting

Ferguson Finance plc {the ‘Company’) is a public Company limited by shares incorporated in the United Kingdom
under the Companies Act 2006 and is registered in England and Wales. The principal activity of the Company is
shown on page 2 and the address of the Company's registered office is shown on page 5.

The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, modified to include certain
items at fair value and in accordance with Financial Reporting Standard 102 (FRS 102) issued by the Financial
Reporting Council.

The functional currency of Ferguson Finance plc is considered to be US dollars because that is the currency of
the primary economic environment in which the Company operates.

Ferguscn Finance plc meets the definition of a qualifying entity under FRS 102 and has therefore taken advantage
of the disclosure exemptions available to it in respect of its separate financial statements. The Company is
consolidated in the financial statements of its ultimate parent, Ferguson pic, which may be obtained frcm the
Company's registered office, 1020 Eskdale Road, Winnersh Triangle, Wokingham, RG41 5TS, United Kingdom.
Exemptions have been taken in these separate Company financial statements in relation to financial instruments,
presentation of a cash flow statement and remuneration of key management personnel.

1.2 Going concern

The Company’s business activities, together with the factors likely to affect its future development and position,
are set out in the Strategic report on page 2.

The Company has net assets with which it can fund its operations. In addition, it participates in the Group’s
centralised treasury arrangements and so shares banking arrangements with its parent and fellow subsidiaries.

The directors have no reascn to believe that a material uncertainty exists that may cast significant doubt about
the ability of the Group to continue as a going concern or its ability to continue with the current banking
arrangements.

On the basis of their assessment, which has included making enquiries of the directors of Ferguson plc about the
going concern position of the Group, the Company's directors have a reasonable expectation that the Company
will be able to continue in operational existence for at least 12 months from the date of signing these accounts.
Thus they continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting in preparing the annual financial statements.

1.3 Interest income

Interest income is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Company and the
amount of revenue can be measured reliably. Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the
principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount on initial
recognition

1.4 Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Company becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument and are measured at amortised cost.
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Notes to the financial statements
forthe year ended 31 July 2022

1. Accounting policies {(continued)

1.5 Impairment of assets

Assets, other than those measured at fair value, are assessed for indicators of impairment at each balance sheet
date. If there is objective evidence of impairment, an impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss as described
below.

Non-financial assots

An asset is impaired where there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events that occurred after
initial recognition, the estimaied recoverable value of the asset has been reduced. The recoverable amount of an
asset is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its value in use.

Where indicators exist for a decrease in impairment loss, the prior impairment loss is tested to determine reversal.
An impairment loss is reversed on an individual impaired asset to the extent that the revised recoverabie value
does not lead to a revised carrying amount higher than the carrying value had no impairment been recognised.

Financial assets

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of an impairment is the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the financial asset’s original
effective interest rate.

For financial assets carried at cost less impairment, the impairment loss is the difference between the asset’'s
carrying amount and the best estimate of the amount that would be received for the asset if it were to be sold at
the reporting date.

Where indicators exist for a decrease in impairment loss, and the decrease can be related objectively to an event
occurring after the impairment was recognised, the prior impairment loss is tested to determine reversal. An
impairment loss is reversed on an individual impaired financial asset to the extent that the revised recoverable
value does not lead to a revised carrying amount higher than the carrying value had no impairment been
recognised.

1.6 Foreign currency

Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded at the rate of exchange at the date of the transaction. Monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the balance sheet date are reported at the rates of
exchange prevailing at that date.

Other exchange differences are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise except for exchange
differences on transactions entered into to hedge certain foreign currency risks.
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Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 31 July 2022

1. Accounting policies {continued)

1.7 Tax

Tax for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is presented in profit or loss, other comprehensive
income or equity depending on where the transaction that resuited in the tax is presented.

Current tax is tax payable (refundable) in respect of the taxable profit (tax loss) for the current period or past
reporting periods. Current tax is calculated using the tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the balance sheet date.

Deferred tax represents the future tax consequences of transactions and events recognised in the financial
statements of the current and previous periods.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of all timing differences that have originated but not reversed by the balance
sheet date, except that:

. deferred tax assets shall be recognised only to the extent that it is probabie that they will be recovered
against the reversal of deferred tax liabilities or other future taxable profits; and
. deferred tax shall be reversed if and when all conditions for retaining associated tax allowances for the

cost of a fixed asset have been met.
Deferred tax is not recognised on permanent differences.

Deferred tax is determined using the tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
balance sheet date that are expected to apply to the reversal of the timing difference.

2. Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty

In the application of the Company’s accounting policies, which are described in note 1, the directors are required
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not
readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that peried, or in the period
of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

The directors have not identified any critical accounting judgements or key sources of estimation uncertainty made
in the process of applying the Company’s accounting policies that have a significant effect on the amounts
recognised in the financial statements.

In evaluating the impact of COVID-19 and in light of the wider Ferguson Group’s strong performance during the
period, management concluded there was no material impact on the financial statements.

3. Auditor’'s remuneration

The remuneration for the audit of the financial statements for the year of $38,500 (2021 — $15,000) was borne by
Ferguson Group Services Limited and was not recharged to the Company. Fees of $314,000 were paid to
Deloitte LLP in relation to the issuance of the bond during the current year (2021 - $nil). These were borne by
Ferguson UK Holdings Limited and not recharged to the Company. The Company has taken advantage of the
exemption available under sections 6(2) and 6(3) from part 2 of The Companies (Disclosure of Auditor
Remuneration and Liability Limitation Agreements) Regulations 2008 to dispense with the requirement to disclose
non-audit fees as the disclosure is included within the Group financial statements of Ferguson plc.

4. Employees

The Company has no employees (2021 — none) other than the directors, who did not receive any remuneration
in respect of their services to the Company.
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for the year ended 31 July 2022

5. Interest receivable and similar income
2022 2021
$m $m
Interest receivable from Group undertakings 68 55
6. Interest payable and similar expenses
2022 2021
$m $m
Bank and other loans 66 53
7. Tax on profit
2022 2021
$m $m

Total tax charge on profit - -

The tax assessed for the year is equal to the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK of 19% (2021 — 19%).

2022 2021
$m Sm
Profit before tax 2 2
Profit multiplied by standard rate of corporation tax in the UK at 19% (2021 - 19%) - -
8. Debtors: amounts falling due after more than one year
2022 2021
$m $m
Amounts owed by Group undertakings 2,350 1,350

Amounts owed by Group undertakings were unsecured. $750 million {2021 - $750 million) was interest bearing at
4 65%, maturing in October 2028. $600 million (2021 - $600 million) was interest bearing at 3.40%, maturing in June
2030, $300 million (2021 - $nii) was interest bearing at 4.36%, maturing in April 2027. $700 million (2021 - $nil) was
interest bearing at 4.76%, maturing in April 2032.

. Debtors: amounts falling due within one year
2022 2021
$m $m
Amounts owed by Group undertakings 25 12

Amounts owed by Group undertakings were unsecured and were non-interest bearing and relate to accrued interest
on amounts owed by Group undertakings in note 8.
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10. Creditors: amounts falling due within one year
2022 2021
$m $m
Bank loan interest accrued 25 12
11. Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year
2022 2021
$m $m
Bank leans - senior unsecured loan notes 2,350 1,350

In October 2018, the Company issued $750 million of 10 year 4.5% notes in the USA bond market, maturing in
October 2028. Costs of $9 million were incurred in respect of the bond, including issuance costs and the discount to
par at which the bond was issued. These were borne by Ferguson UK Holdings Limited and capitalised on its balance
sheet to be amortised over the life of the bond. These were not recharged to the Company.

in June 2020, the Company issued $600 million of 10 year 3.25% notes in the USA bond market, maturing in June
2030. Costs of $8 million were incurred in respect of the bond, including issuance costs and the discount to par at
which the bond was issued. These were borne by Ferguscn UK Holdings Limited and capitalised on its balance
sheet to be amortised over the life of the bend. These were not recharged to the Company.

In April 2022, the Company issued notes in the USA bond market of $300 million 5 year 4.25% notes, maturing in
April 2027 and $700 million 10 year 4.65% notes, maturing in April 2032. Costs of $3 million and $8 million
respectively were incurred in the respect of the bonds, including issuance costs and the discount to par at which
the bond was issued. These were borne by Ferguson UK Holdings Limited and capitalised on its balance sheet to
be amortised over the life of the bonds. These were not recharged to the Company.

12. Called up share capital
2022 2021
$m $m
Shares classified as equity: allotted, called up and fully paid

50,000 ordinary shares of £1 each - -

The shares have attached to them full voting, dividend and capital distribution (including on winding up) rights; they
do not confer any rights of redemption.

13. Reserves

Profit and loss account
The profit and loss account represents cumulative profits or losses, net of dividends paid and other adjustments.

14, Related party transactions

The Company has taken advantage of the exemption available under FRS 102 Section 33.1A to dispense with
the requirement to disclose fransactions with wholly owned subsidiaries.

15. Ultimate parent undertaking and controlling party

The Company's ultimate parent company and ultimate contrelling party is Ferguson plc, & company incorporated
in Jersey whose registered office is 13 Castle Street, St Helier, Jersey JE1 1ES. 't is the smailest and largest
parent undertaking to consolidate this Company’s financial statements. Copies of the Group financial statements
of Ferguson plc may be obtained from the Group Company Secretary, Ferguson pic, 1020 Eskdale Road, Winnersh
Triangle, Wokingham, RG21 5TS, United Kingdom. The Company's immediate controliing party is Ferguson UK
Holdings Limited (formerly Wolseley Limited).

16. Post balance sheet events

There are no post balance sheet events that require disclosure,
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF FLRGUSON PLC
Report on the audit of the financial statements

1. Opinion
In our opinion the financial statements of Ferguson plc and its subsidiaries (the ‘Group’):

* give a true and fair view of the state of the Group’s affairs as of July 31, 2022 and of the Group’s profit for
the year then ended;

* have been properly prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America (‘US GAAP'); and

e have been properly prepared in accordance with Companies (Jersey) Law, 1991,

We have audited the financial statements which comprise:

s the Group consolidated statements of earnings;

* the Group consclidated statement of comprehensive income;
+ the Group consclidated balance sheet;

* the Group consclidated statement of shareholder’s equity;

s the Group consclidated statements of cash flows; and

+ the notes to the consolidated financial statements 1 to 18.

The financial reporting framewaork that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

2. Basis for opinion

We conducied our audit in accerdance with International Standards on Auditing (UK] (1SAs {(UK}) and
applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the auditor’s
responsibifities for the audit of the financial statements section of cur report.

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit
of the financial statements in the UK, including the Financial Reporting Council’s (the ‘FRC’s’} Ethical Standard
as applied to listed entities, and we have fulfilled our other ethiczl responsibilities in accordance with these
requirements. We confirm that we have nat provided any non-audit services prohibited by the FRC's Ethical
Standard to the Group.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for cur
opinion.

3. Summary of our audit approach

Key audit matters The key audit matters that we identified in the current year were:

» [nventory existence and valuation;
s« Adoption of US GAAP; and




« T systems which impact financial reporting.

Materiality The materiality that we used for the Group financial statements in the current year
was $135 million which was determined on the basis of approximately 5% of profit
before tax.

Scoping We have performed a full scope audit at one component, being the USA, and on

the consolidation process. We have performed audits of specified account balances
at five head office entities. Our components within the scope of our audit represent
95% of the Group’s revenue from continuing operations, 98% of the Group’s
adjusted coperating profit, and 94% of the Group’s net assets.

Significant changes in Qur approach is consistent with the previous year with the exception of including
our approach two new key audit matters given the audit effort involved in testing the adoption of
US GAAP and the testing of IT systems which impact financial reporting.

4. Conclusions relating to going concern

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the Directors” use of the going concern basis of
accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate.

Our evaluation of the Directors’ assessment of the Group’s ability to centinue to adopt the going concern basis
of accounting included:

. cbtaining an understanding of relevant centrols over the going concern models, including assessing the
inputs and assumpticns used in those models;
. testing the accuracy of the models, including agreemant to the most recent Beard approved budgets and
forecasts;
. chzallenging the key assumpticns of these forecasts by:
o reading industry data and other external information and comparing these with
management’s estimates;
o comparing forecast revenue with the Group’s historical performance, including the impact of
COVID-19 on operations in FY21,
o evaluating the historical accuracy of ferecasts;
e assessing the sensitivity of the headroom and the forecasts; and
e assessing the sufficiency of the Group's disclosure concerning the going concern basis.

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating tc events or
conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the Group’s gbility to continue as a
going concern for a period of at least twelve manths from when the financial statements are authorized for
issue.

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the Directors with respect to going concern are described in the
relevant sections of this report.
5. Key audit matters

Key audit matters are these matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our
audit of the financial staterments of the current period and include the most significant assessed risks of



material misstatement {(whether or not due to fraud) that we identified. These matters included those which
had the greatest effect on: the overall audit strategy; the allocation of resources in the audit; and directing the
efforts of the engagement team.

These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in
forming our cpinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

5.1. Inventory existence and valuation - Refer to Note 1 to the financial statements

Key audit matter The Group had inventories of $4,333 million at July 31, 2022 {$3,273 millicn as of July
description 31, 2021), held in numerous distribution centres and branches, and across multiple
product lines.

The Group employs a range of inventory counting procedures to record the existence
and condition of inventory considering the highly disaggregated nature of the
inventory balance across the Group’s distribution centres and branch locations,
including perpetual cycle counts. The perpetual cycle count process is in turn reliant
0N a core warehouse management system.

In addition, reserves are made against slow-moving, obsolete and damaged
inventories for which the net realisable value is estimated tc be less than the cost.
The reserve is estimated based on the Group’s current knowledge with respect to
inventory levels, sales trends and historical experience. The reserve calculation
requires judgement, which increases the risk of possible misstatement.

We identified the valuation of inventory reserves and the existence of perpetual
cycle count as a key audit matter. This is due to the inherent uncertainty in
estimating the inventory reserve and higher degree of auditor judgment and effort
needed to determine the extent and timing of testing the perpetual cycle count
inventory existence.

How the scope of our  Our audit procedures related to inventory existence and valuation included the
audit responded to the following, among others:

key audit matter
Existence

+ Obtained an understanding of the general IT controls associated with the
relevant IT systems for inventory, including the systems responsible for
managing the perpetual cycle count pregrammes.

s Used senior team members to determine the extent and location of inventory
counts.

s Physically observed management’s count procedures over inventory close to
the year-end date and performed independent sample count procedures in
relation to locations across the Group.

s Performed roll-forward procedures from the date of our inventory counts to
the year-end date.

s investigated any variations from our independent counts and considered the
impact in the context of the inventery balance as a whole.

Valuation
s Obtained an understanding of relevant inventory controls operating across the
Group.




* Tested the Group's process in determining the inventory reserve by
recalculating the inventary reserve, if any, for a sample of an hand inventory
items and inventory reserve amounts.

s Formed an independent expectation of the inventory reserves at year-end
based on prior year ratios and compared the inventory reserve against our
expectation.

e Parformed a historical lock back analysis fer a selection of inventory items and
considered the impact in the context of the inventory balance as a whole.

Key observations

Cur work on the existence of inventory was completed as planned and, after taking
into account any count variances observed, we are satisfied that the Group’s
inventory is not materially misstated.,

Certain general IT and business process cantrols required improvement {refer tc
the “IT systems which impact financial reporting” key audit matter).

We cansider the Group’s provisioning methodology to be conservative when
compared with historical levels of inventory write-offs. However, the methodology
is consistently applied year-on-year and our estimate of the potential
overstatement of the provision is not material to the financial position or the
reported financial result as of July 31, 2022.

5.2, Adoption of US GAAP

Key audit matter
description

As outlined in Note 1 to the financial statements, the Group transitioned from
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”} as issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board to US GAAP. The consclidated financial statements and
notes thereto, including all prior periods presented, have been presented under US
GAAP,

The Group also had to make judgements abeut differences in the application of US
GAAP compared to the previous application of IFRS, and adjust certain account
balances and disclosures accordingly.

The asscciated audit work assessing the judgements taken, adjustments made and
disclasures provided on adoption of US GAAP has required a significant allocation of
resources and has been a key area of audit effort for the engagement team.

How the scope of our
audit responded to the
key audit matter

We have performed the following procedures in respect of this key audit matter:

+ Obtained an understanding and tested the relevant contrals relating to the
identification and guantification of US GAAP differences, as well as
disclosures made.

e (Challenged management’s assessments of IFRS to US GAAP differences
with reference to our historical knowledge of the Group, and assessed
completeness of these differences.

« Agreed the adjusting entries recorded for each of the years of transition to
appropriate supporting evidence.




e Assessed whether the disclosures within the financial statements are
appropriate in light of the new reporting framework.

Key observations

We canclude that the amounts presented and the disclosures made within the
financial statements are appropriate and in accordance with the new reporting
framework.

5.3. IT systems which impact financial reporting

Key audit matter
description

The Group utilizes a range of information systems and has been undertaking a
multi-year programme, in line with its need to comply with the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
('SOX’) for the first time this fiscal year, to improve general [T controls and
remediate identified deficiencies.

Certain general IT controls required improvement, particularly those impacting
inventory. These were in the area of Access Security and Change Management in
relation to information used in the performance of inventory reserve and cycle
count monitoring controls. These matters were anticipated in determining our
initial risk assessment for existence of inventory associated with perpetual cycle
count locations and testing of the inventary reserve (refer to the “inventory
existence and valuation” key audit matter.

The testing of general IT controls, including the assessment of any deficiencies and
consideration of remedial actions to ensure compliance with SOX, has been
identified as a key audit matter as it has required a significant allocation of
resources and has been a key area of audit effort.

How the scape of our
audit responded to the
key audit matter

Qur IT audit scope is driven by the level of reliance placed on technology to obtain
sufficient audit evidence within a business process. The technology deemed
relevant to the audit is based on the financial data, system configured automated
controls and/or key financial reports that reside within it. We used IT specialists to
support our evaluation of the risks associated with technelogy and with the
assessing the design and testing IT controls.

Testing over the technology deemed relevant to the audit included the following
areas:

e General {T controls, including user access and change management
controls.

s Key financial reports and system configured automated controls.
Controls to provide assurance over the completeness and accuracy of
relevant data migrations for newly implemented systems.

s Testing of exposure review controls and testing remediation of any
identified deficiencies.

Our risk assessment procedures included an assessment of the impact of all
unremediated iT control deficiencies to determine the impact on our audit plan.




Where relevant, the audit pian was adjusted to include the testing of additional
manual business process controls to mitigate the unaddressed IT risk.

Key observations

IT control deficiencies were identified during the year in respect of user access and
change management. By year-end the majority of these deficiencies had been
successfully remediated or mitigated through ad-hoc exposure review controls.
Continued improvement in general IT controls is required in future years in order to
remediate the remaining deficiencies. Where these deficiencies affected
applications and systems within the scope of our audit, we successfully completed
additional testing of exposure review controls, or performed additional substantive
testing in order to assess the completeness and accuracy of system generated
information.

6. Our application of materiality

6.1. Materiality

We define materiaiity as the magnitude of misstatement in the financial statements that makes it probable
that the economic decisions of a reasonably knowledgeable person would be changed or influenced. We use
materiality both in planning the scope of cur audit work and in evaluating the results of our work.

Based on our professional judgement, we determined materiality for the financial statements as a whole as

follows:
Group materiality
Materiality $135m (2021: $90m)
Basis fo_r . Materiality was determined on the basis of approximately 5% of profit before tax, which is
determining consistent with the prior year.
materiality

Rationale for the
benchmark
applied

Profit before tax is a key metric for users of the financial statements and reflects the
manner in which business performance is reported and assessed by external users of the
financial statements.




Group materiality
35
Co%lponrgnt
materiality range

PBT $2,708 $68m to $122m

s PBT
Audit Committee
reporting threshold
$6.75m

® Group materiality

6.2. Performance materiality

We set performance materiality at a level lower than materiafity to reduce the prabzbility that, in aggregate,
uncorrected and undetected misstatements exceed the materiality for the financial statements as a whole.

Group performance materiality

Performance  g59; (2021: 65%) of Group materiality

materiality
Basis and In determining performance materiality, we considered the following factors:
rationale for
determining ¢ our understanding of the entity and its environment;
performance e the reliability of the entity’s internal control over financial reporting;
materiality e the entity’s history of misstatements — both corrected and uncorrected;
o the likelihood that misstatements from the prior period will recur in the current
period; and

« anychanges in the business that would affect our ability to forecast potential
misstatements.

6.3. Error reporting threshold

We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report to the Committee all audit differences in excess of
$6.75m {2021: $4.50m), as well as differences below that threshold that, in our view, warranted reporting on
qualitative grounds. We alsc report to the Audit Committee on disclosure matters that we identified when
assessing the overall presentation of the financial statements.

7. An overview of the scope of our audit

7.1. Identification and scoping of components

Our Group audit was scoped by obtaining an understanding cf the Group and its environment, inciuding
Group-wide controls, and assessing the risks of material misstatement at the Group level.

Based on that assessment, we focused our Group audit scope primarily on the audit work performed at
components in the USA. A full scope audit was performed by local component auditors in the US, whilst an
audit of specified account balances was performed by local component auditors for the five head office



entities. We no longer consider Wolseley Canada to include significant risks of material misstatement to the
Group, given its size relative to the wider Group. The Group team therefore performed analytical procedures,
as opposed to an audit of specified account balances which was performed in the prior year, Qur audit work
on the components was executed at levels of materiality applicable to each individual entity which were lower
than Group matariality and ranged from $68 million to $122 million (2021: $27 million ta $75 millian).

Our components within the scope of our audit represent 95% of the Group’s revenue from continuing
operations (2021: 100%), 98% of the Group’s adjusted operating profit (2021: 100%), and 94% of the Group’s
net assets (2021; 100%).

At the Group level we also tested the consolidation process and carried out analytical procedures to confirm
our conclusion that there were no significant risks of material misstatement of the aggregated financial
information of the remaining components not subject to audit or audit of specified account balances,

7.2. Our consideration of the control environment

The Group operates a range of IT systems which underpin the financial reporting process. These can vary by
business and/or by geography. For all of the components that were subject to either a full scope or audit of
spacified balances, we identified relevant [T systems for the purpose of our audit work, These were typically
the principal Enterprise Resource Planning (ERP) systems for each business that govern the general ledger and
transactional accounting balances, and in some cases also included ancillary/feeder systems into the main
ERP. Qur approach was principally designed to inform our risk assessment and, as such, we obtained an
understanding of relevant general IT controls using [T specialists. We did not place reliance on certain of the
general IT controls that we tested for the purpose of the substantive audit procedures due to the evolving IT
control environment and the deficiencies identified.

As the Group's preparations for the regquirements under SOX continued through the year, management have
focused on the identification end documentation of contral procedures throughout the Group, which has led
us to obtain an understanding of additional business process controls in the current year to inform our risk
assessment. These contrels include those addressing significant financial statement line items in the US
component, including revenue and inventory, as well as head office controls relating to central balances and
processes such as pensicn accounting, consolidation and financial reporting, treasury and the Group’s
planning and budgeting process.

The Group continues to invest in its 1T systems and overall control environment and this includes seeking to
remediate control findings where they are identified through its own assurance framework, including Internal
Audit, or through the external audit. As part of cur centrois work in the prior and current year, we identified a
number of control deficiencies that management is in the process of remediating, including as noted in the IT
systems which impact financial reperting key audit matter above. Where deficiencies have been identified and
the remediation activity remained ongoing during the current year we did not seek to place reliance on those
relevant IT systems and business process controls for the purpose of our audit, but we did assess the
deficiencies in the aggregate to assess overall compliance with SOX requirements. By year end, the majority of
these deficiencies have been successfully remediated or mitigated through ad-hoc exposure review contrals,

7.3. Working with other auditors

Qur oversight of component auditers focused on the planning of their audit work and understanding of
their risk assessment process to identify key areas of estimates and judgement, as well as the execution
of their audit work. We sent our component teams detailed instructions, reviewed and challenged the
related component inter-cffice reporting and findings from their work, reviewed underlying audit files,
attended component audit closing conference calls and held regular remote communication to interact
on any related audit and accounting matters which arose.

As part of our oversight of the component teams, planning meetings were alsc held with key component
audit teams. The purpose of these planning meetings was to determine whether the component teams



had a good level ot understanding ot the Group’s businesses, Its core strategy and significant risks. We
also provided direction on enguiries made by the component auditors through online and telephone
conversations. All the findings noted were discussed with the compenent auditors in detail and further
procedures to be performed were issued where rejevant.

Given the relaxation in global travel rules cocmpared to last year, we made a number of in-persoen visits to
oversee the work of the US component audit team. This was in addition to frequent virtual meetings which
continued to take place througheut the year.

8. Otherinformation

The other information comprises the information included in the Annual Report, other than the financial
staterments and our auditor’s report thereon. The Directors are responsible for the other information
centained within the Annual Report.

Our cpinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent
otherwise explicitly stated in our report, and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the course of the audit, or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine
whether this gives rise to a material misstatement in the financial statements themselves. If, based on the
work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

9. Responsibilities of Directors

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they
give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as the Directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the Directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the Directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations,
or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

10. Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reascnabie assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high ievel of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reascnably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

A further description of cur responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the FRC’s
website at: www.frc.ors.uk/auditarsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditor’s report.
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11. Extent to which the audit was considered capable of detecting irregularities,
including fraud

Irregularittes, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design
procedures in line with our responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect of
irregularities, including fraud. The extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities,
including fraud is detailed below.

11.1. Identifying and assessing potential risks related to irregularities

In identifying and assessing risks of material misstatement in respect of irregularities, including fraud and
non-compliance with laws and regulations, we considered the following:

» the nature of the industry and sector, control environment and business performance including
the design of the Group's remuneration policies, key drivers for Directors' remuneration, bonus
levels and performance targets;

e results of our enquiries of management, internal audit and the Audit Committee about their own
identification and assessment of the risks of irregularities;

e any matters we identified having obtained and reviewed the Group's documentation of their
policies and procedures relating to:

o identifying, evaluating and complying with laws and regulations and whether they were
aware of any instances of non-compliance;

o detecting and responding to the risks of fraud and whether they have knowledge of any
actual, suspected or alleged fraud; and

o theinternal controls estabiished to mitigate risks of fraud or non-compliance with laws
and regulaticns;

s the matters discussed among the audit engagement team including significant component audit
teams and relevant internal specialists, including tax, valuations, pensions and IT specialists
regarding how and where fraud might occur in the financial statements and any potential
indicators of fraud.

As a result of these procedures, we considered the opportunities and incentives that may exist within the
organisation for fraud. In commeon with all audits under 1SAs {UK), we are also required to perform specific
procedures to respond to the risk of management override.

We also obtained an understanding of the legal and regulatory framewaorks that the Group operates in,
focusing on provisians of these laws and regulations that had a direct effect on the determination of material
amecunts and disclesures in the financial statements. The key laws and regulations we considered in this
context included Jersey Law, Listing Rules in the United States, pension legislation and tax legislation.

In addition, we considered provisions of other laws and regulations that do not have a direct effect on the
financial statements but compliance with which may be fundamental to the Group's ability tc operate or to
avoid a material penalty.

11.2. Audit response to risks identified

As a result of performing the above, we did not identify any key zudit matters related to the potential risk of
fraud or non-compliance with laws and regulaticns.

Qur procedures to respond to risks identified included the following:

e reviewing the financial statement disclosures and testing to supporting documentation to assess
compliance with provisions of relevant laws and regulations described as having a direct effect on the
financial statements;



+ enguiring of management, the audit committee and in-house legal counse! concerning actual and
potential litigation and claims;

+ performing analytical procedures to identify any unusual or unexpected relationships that may
indicate risks of material misstatement due to fraud;

+ reading minutes of meetings of those charged with governance, reviewing internal audit reports and
reviewing correspondernice with tax authorities; and

¢ inaddressing the risk of fraud through management override of controls, testing the appropriateness
of journal entries and other adjustments; assassing whether the judgements made in making
accounting estimates are indicative of a potential bias; and evaluating the business rationale of any
significant transactions that are unusual or outside the normal course of business.

We also communicated relevant identified laws and regulations and potential fraud risks to all engagement
team members including internal specialists and significant component audit teams, and remained alert to any
indications of fraud or non-compliance with laws and regulations throughout the audit.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

12.Matters on which we are required to report by exception

12.1. Adequacy of explanations received and accounting records
Under the Companies {Jersey) Law, 1991 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion:

e we have notreceived ali the information and explanations we require for our audit; or

e proper accounting records have not been kept, or proper returns adequate for our audit have not
been received from branches not visited by us; or

e thefinancial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns,

We have nothing to repart in respect of these matters.

13.0ther matters which we are required to address

13.1. Auditor tenure

Following the recommendation of the audit committee, we were appointed by the members of the Annual
General Meeting on November 12, 2015 to audit the financial statements for the year ending July 31, 2016
and subsequent financial periods. The period of total uninterrupted engagement including previous renewals
and reappointments of the firm is six years, covering the years ending fuly 31, 2016 to July 31, 2021.

13.2 Consistency of the audit report with the additional report to the audit committee

QOur audit apinion is consistent with the additional report to the audit committee we are required to provide in
accordance with ISAs (UK},

14 Use of our report

This report is made solely to the Company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Article 113A of the
Companies (Jersey) Law, 1991, Qur audit work has been undertaken sc that we might state to the
Company's members thaose matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no
other purpose. To the fuflest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility tc anyone
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other than the Company and the Company’s members as a bady, for our audit work, for this report, or for
the opinicns we have formed.,

drew Bond
(Senior statutory auditor}
For and on behalf of Deloitte LLP
Recognized Auditor
London, United Kingdom
September 27, 2022
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Ferguson plc

Consolidated Statements of Earnings

(In millions, eéxcept per share amounts)
Net sales
Cost of sales
Gross profit
Selling, general and administrative expenses
Depreciation and amortization
Operating profit
Interest expense, net
Other (expense) income, net
Income before income taxes
Provision for income taxes
Income from continuing operations
Income (loss) from discontinued operations (net of tax}
Net income

Earnings per share - Basic:
Continuing operations
Discontinued operations

Total

Earnings per share - Diluted:
Continuing operations
Discontinucd operations

Total

Weighted average number of shares outstanding:
Basic
Diluted

See accompanying Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

For the years ended July 31,

2022 2021 2020
$28,566 $22,792 19,940
(19,810 (15,812) (13,957)

8,756 6,980 5,983
(5,635) {4,732) (4.329)
(301) (298) (282)
2,820 1,950 1,372
(111) (98) (93)
(1) 10 (7
2,708 1.862 1,272
(609) (232) (299)
2,099 1,630 973
23 (158) ()
$2,122 $1,472 961
$9.64 $7.29 $4.32
0.1 (0.70) (0.05)
$9.75 $6.59 $4.27
$9.59 $7.25 $4.29
0.10 (0.70) (0.03)
$9.69 $6.55 $4.24
217.7 223.5 224.8
2189 224.8 226.8



Ferguson ple
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income

For the years ended July 31,

(In millions) 2022 2021 2020
Net income $2,122 $1,472 $961
Other comprehensive (loss) income:
Foreign currency translation adjustments (24) 170 33
Pension (loss) income, net of tax (expense) benefit of ($11), ($17) and
$45, respectively. (10) 79 (197)
Total other comprehensive (loss) income, net of tax 34 249 (164)
Comprchensive income $2,088 $1.721 $797

See accompanying Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.,



Ferguson ple
Consolidated Balance Sheets

As of July 31,

(In millions, except share amounts) 2022 2021
Assets

Cash and cash equivalents $771 $1.,335
Accounts receivable, less allowances of $27 and $17, respectively 3,610 2,786
Inventories, net 4,333 3,273
Prepaid and other current assets 834 732
Assets held tor sale 3 3
Total current assets 9,551 8,129
Property, plant and equipment, net 1,376 1,305
Operating lease right-of-use assets 1,200 1,102
Deferred income taxes, nct 177 240
Goodwill 2,048 1,828
Other intangible assets, net 782 546
Other non-current assets 527 559
Total assets §15,661 $13.709

Liabilities and shareholders' equity

Accounts payable $3,607 $3,030
Short-term debt 250 —
Current portion of operating lease liabilities 321 263
Share repurchase liability 324 —
Other current liabilities 1,297 1,445
Total current liabilities 5,799 4,738
Long-term debt 3,679 2,512
Long-term portion of operating [ease liabilities 878 827
Other long-term liabilities 640 629
Total liabilities 10,996 8,706

Shareholders’ equity:

Ordinary shares, par value 10 pence: 500,000,000 shares authorized, 232,171,182 shares issued $30 $30
Paid-in capital 760 704
Retained earnings 7.594 6,054
Treasury shares, 21,078,577 and 9.862.816 shares, respectively at cost (2,782) {931)
Employee Benefit Trust, 846,491 and 833,189 shares, respectively at cost (107) (58)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (830) (796)
Total shareholders' equity 4,663 5.003
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $15.661 $13.709

See accompanying Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.



Ferguson plc
Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity

Accumulated

Employee Other
Ordinary  Paid-in  Retained Treasury Benefit Comprehensive  Total
(In millions, except per share data) Shares  Capital Earnings  Sharcs Trust 1.0ss Equity
Balance at August 1, 2015 $30 $585 $5,080 {$305) ($102) ($881) $4,407
Share-based compensation — 39 — — — —_— 39
Net income — — g6l — P — 961
Other comprehensive loss — — — — — {164) (164)
Cash dividends: $1.451 per share — — (327) —_ — —_ 327)
Share repurchases — — — (292) (26) — (318)
Shares issued under employee share
plans — — {56) 27 40 o 11
Balance at July 31, 2020 $30 %624 $5.658 {($570) ($88) ($1,045)  $4,609
Share-based compensation —_ 80 — — e — 80
Net income — — 1.472 — — — 1,472
Other comprehensive income — — —_— — — 249 249
Cash dividends: $4.611 per share — — (1,034) — — — (1.034)
Share repurchases — — e (400} — s (400)
Shares issued under employee share
plans — _— (51) 39 30 — 18
Other — — 9 e — B 9
Balance at July 31, 2021 $30 $704 $6,054 ($931) ($58) ($796)  $5,003
Share-based compensation — 56 e — — — 56
Net income — — 2122 —_ — — 2,122
Other comprehensive loss -— — — — — (34) (34)
Cash dividends: $2.505 per share — — {530} — — — {550)
Share repurchases — — e (1,872) (92) R (1,964)
Shares issued under cmployee share
plans — — (5n 21 43 — 13
Other — — 19 — — e 19
Balance at July 31, 2022 $30 $760 $7,594 ($2,782) ($107) ($830)  $4.6065

See accompanying Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.



Ferguson plec
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

For the years ended July 31,

(In millions) 2022 2021 2020
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income $2,122 $1.472 $961
(Income) loss from discontinued operations (23) 158 12
Income from continuing operations 2,059 1,630 973
Depreciation and amortization 301 298 282
Share-based compensation 57 77 29
Net loss (gain) on disposal of assets and impairment 15 — 2)
(Increase) decrease in inventories (927 (748) 16
{Increase) decrease in receivables and other assets (780) (756) 104
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable and other liabilities 436 1,012 (39)
(Decrease) increase in income taxes (62) (170) 66
Other operating activities 10 (6) 23
Net cash provided by operating activities of continuing operations 1,149 1,337 1,452
Net cash provided by operating activities of discontinued operations — 45 93
Net cash provided by operating activities 1,149 1,382 1,545
Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchase of busingsses acquired, net of cash acquired (650) (286) (271)
Proceeds from sale of assets and divestitures 4 18 45
Capital expenditurcs (290) (241} (283)
Other investing activities 10 (6) ()
Net cash used in investing activities of continuing operations (946) (515) (514)
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities of discontinued operations 24 390 (57)
Net cash used in investing activities (922) (125) (571)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Purchase of own shares by Employee Benefit Trust (92) — (26)
Purchase of treasury shares (1,545) (400) 451)
Proceeds from sale of treasury shares 13 18 11
Repayments of debt (575 (375) (1,196)
Proceeds from debt 2,019 4 1,799
Change in bank overdrafts 4 (213) 230
Cash dividends (538) (1,036) (327
Other financing activities (22) {(49) (36)
Net cash (used in) previded by financing activities (744) (2,051) 4
Change in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash 517 (794) 978
Effects of exchange rate changes (40) 6 4
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, beginning of period 1,342 2,130 1,148
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, end of period $785 $1,342 $2,130
Supplemental Disclosures:
Cash paid for income taxes %670 5404 $225
Cash paid for interest 94 104 114
Accrued capital expenditures 16 10 7

See accompanying Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Ferguson ple
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Note 1: Summary of significant accounting policies
Background

I'erpuson ple (the “*Company™) (NYSE: FERG; LSE: FERG) is a public company limited by shares incorporated in Jerscy
under the Companies (fersey) Law 1991 (as amended). The Company is a value-added distributor in North America providing
cxpertise, solutions and products from infrastructure, plumbing and appliances to HVAC, fire, fabrication and more. We exist
to make our customers’ complex projects simple. successful and sustainable. Ferguson is headquartered in the U.K., with its
operations and associates solely focused on North America and managed from Newport News, Virginia. The Company’s
registered office is 13 Castle Street, St Helier, Jersey, JE1 1ES, Channel Tslands.

Basis of consolidation

These consolidated financial statements include the results of the Company and its wholly-owned subsidiaries and its share of
after tax profits and losses of ils equity method investments. All intercompany transactions arc climinated from the consolidated
flnancial statements.

Lftective August 1, 2021, thc Company transitioned from International Financial Reporting Standards (“"TFRS™) aceepted by the
International Accounting Standards Board to accounting principles generally aceepted in the United States (“U.S. GAAP™). The
accompanying consolidated financial statements and notes thereto, including all prior periods presented, have been presented
under LL.S. GAAP.

Fiscal year

Except as otherwise specified, references to years indicate our fiscal year ended July 31 of the respective year. For example.
references to “fiscal 20227 or similar references refer to the fiscal year ended July 31, 2022,

Use of estimates

The preparation of the Company's Consolidated Financial Statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to
make estimates and assumptions affecting reported amounts in the Consolidated Financial Statements and accompanying notes.
Actual results may differ from those estimates.

Accounts receivables

Accounts receivables arc stated at their estimated net realizable value. An allowance for doubtful accounts is estimated based
on historical write-offs. the age of past due receivables. as well as consideration for forward-looking expectations where
appropriate. Accounts reccivables are written oft when recoverability is assessed as being remote. The charges associated with
the allowance for doubttul accounts are recognized in sclling, general and administrative expenscs (“SG&A™). Subsequent
recoveries of amounts previously writien oft are credited to SG&A.

Advertising and marketing costs

Advertising costs, including digital, television, radio and print, arc expensed when the advertisement first appears. Certain
marketing, or co-op. contributions are received to fund marketing aclivities of specific, incremental, and identifiable costs
incurred to promote suppliers’ products or activities, which are recorded in SG&A as reductions of the related markeling costs.
The following table presents net advertising expenses included in SG&A:

For the years ended July 31,
(In millions) 2022 2021 2020
Net advertising and marketing costs $389 $299 $249




Business combinations

The assets and liabilities of acquired businesses are recorded at their fair values at the date of acquisition. The excess of the
purchase price over the fair value of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed is recorded as goodwill. During the
measurcment period, which is up to one year from the acquisition date, the Company may record adjustments to the assels
acquired and liabilities assumed with the corresponding otfset to goodwili. Upon conclusion of the measurement period, any
subsequent adjustments arc recorded to earnings.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand. deposits with banks with original maturities of three months or less and
overdrafts to the extent there is a legal right of offset and practice ot net settlement with cash balances.

Restricted cash consists of delerred consideration far business combinations, subject to various settlement agreements, and is
recorded in prepaid and other current assets in the Company’s balance sheets.

The following table provides a reconciliation of cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash reported within the consolidated
balance sheets that sum (o the total of the same such amounts shown in the consolidated statements ot cash flows.

As of July 31,

(In millions) 2022 2021

Cash and cash equivalents 771 $1,335
Restricted cash 14 7
Total cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash $785 $1,342

Concentrations of credit risk

The Company monitors credit risk associated with those financial institutions with which it conducts significant business.
Credit risk, including but not limited to counterparty non-pertormance under derivative instruments and our credit tacilities, is
not considered significant, as we primarily conduct business with large, well-established financial institutions. This risk is
managed by setting credit and seitlement limits for approved countcrpartics. In addition, the Company has cstablished
guidelines that it follows regarding counterparty credit ratings which are monitored regularly, seeking to limit its exposure Lo
any individual counterparty. The concentration of credit risk was deemed not significant as of July 31, 2022 and 2021.

Cost of sales

Cost of sales includes the cost of goods purchased for resale, net of earned rebates, and the cost of bringing inventory to a
scllable location and condition. As the Company does not produce or manufacture products, ils inventories are finished goods
and therefore depreciation related to warehouse facilities and equipment is presented separately within operating expenses.

Derivative instruments and hedging activity

Derivative financial instruments, in particular interest rate swaps and foreigh exchange swaps, are used to manage the financial
risks arising from the Company’s business activities and the financing of those activities. Derivatives are not uscd for
speculative purposes or trading activities and have generally not been significant.

Derivatives are measured at their fair values and included in other assets and other liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets.

When the hedging relationship is classified as an effective fair value hedge, the carrying amount of the hedged asset or liability
is adjusted by the change in its fair value attributable to the hedged risk and the resulting gain or loss is recognized in the
Consolidated Statements of Earnings where it will be offsct by the change in the fair value of the hedging instrument.

When the hedging relationship is classified as an effective cash tlow hedge or as a nct investment hedge, changes in the fair
value of the hedging instrument arising from the hedged risk are recorded in other comprehensive income. When the hedged
item is rccognized in the financial statements, the gains and losses recognized in accumulated other comprehensive loss are
cither recognized in the statement of earnings or, if the hedged item results in a non-linancial asset, are recognized as an
adjustment to its initial carrying amount.
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Discontinued operations

When the Company has disposed of, or classified as held for sale, a business component that represents a strategic shift with
significant eftect on the Company’s operations and financial results, it classities that business component as a discontinued
operaticn and retrospectively presents discontinued operations for the comparable periods. The post-tax income, or loss. of
discontinued operations are shown as a single line on the face of the consolidated statements of earnings. The disposal of the
discontinued operation would also result in a gain or loss upon final disposal.

Fair value measurements

The applicable accounting guidance for fair value measurements established a fair value hierarchy. The fair value hicrarchy
established under this guidance prioritizes the inputs usced to measure fair value. The hierarchy gives the highest priority to
unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1 measurement) and the lowest priority to
unobservable inputs (Level 3 measurement). The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are as follows:

Level 1 - Quoted prices are available in active markets for identical assets or liabililies as of the reporting date. Active markets
are those in which transactions for the asset or liability occur in sufficient frequency and volume to provide pricing information
on an ongoing basis.

Level 2 - Pricing inputs are other than quoted prices in active markets inciuded in Level 1, which are either directly or indirectly
observable as of the reporting date. Level 2 includes those financial instrumenis that arc valued using models or other valuation
mcthodologies. These models are primarily industry-standard models that consider various assumptions, including quoted
prices, time value, volatility factors, and current market and contractual prices for the underlying instruments, as well as other
relevant economic measures. Substantially all of these assumptions are observable in the marketplace throughout the {ull term
of the instrument, can be derived from observable data or are supported by observable levels at which transactions are excecuted
in the marketplace.

Level 3 - Pricing inputs include significant inputs that are generally less observable from objective sources. These inputs may
be used with internally developed methodologies that result in management's best estimate of tair value from the perspective of
a market participant.

Foreign currency
The consolidated financial statements are prescnted in U.S. dollars.

Results of operations of forcign subsidiaries are translated into U.S. dollars using average exchange rates during the year. The
assets and liabilities of those subsidiaries arc translated into 1).8. dollars using exchangc rates at the current rate of exchange on
the last day of the reporting period. These foreign currency translation adjustments are included in accumulated other
comprchensive loss. Foreign currency transaction gains and losses are not material.

In the cvent that the Company disposcs of a subsidiary that uses a non-U.S. dollar functional currency, the gain or loss on
disposal recognized in the Consolidated Stalement ot Earnings includes the cumulative currency translation differences
attributable 1o the subsidiary.

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition over the fair value of the Company’s share of the net identifiable
assets of the acquired business at the date of acquisition. Goodwill is not amortized but is carried at cost less accumulated
impairment losses. The Company performs an annual impairment assessment in the fourth quarter of cach vear, or morc
frequently it changes in circumstances indicate that it s more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its
carrying amount.

The annual impairment assessment begins with an option to assess qualitative factors to determine whether a quantitative
evaluation is appropriate for determining potential goodwill impairment. The quantitative impairment assessment compares the
fair valuc of the reporting unit to its carrying value. The reporting units represent the lowest level within the Company at which
the associated goodwill is monitored for management purposes and are based on the markets where the business operates.

The fair value of a reporting unit i3 determined using the income approach. which requires significant assumptions regarding
futurc operations and the ability to gencrate cash flows. These assumptions include & forecast of future operating cash flows
over a period of four years. a terminal value, capital requircments and a discount rate. Where the carrying value of a reporting
unit exceeds the fair value, an impairment loss is recorded in the consolidated statements of earnings.
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Gains and losses on the disposal of an entity include the carrying amount of goodwill related to the entity sold.
Other intangible assets

Definite-lived intangible assets are primarily comprised of customer relationships, trade names and other intangible assets,
acquired as part of business combinations and are capitalized separately from goodwill and carricd at cost less accumulated
amortization and accumulated impairment losses.

Computer software that is not integral to an item of property, plant and equipment is recognized separately as an infangible
asset and is carried at cost less accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment losses. Costs may include software
licenses and external and internal costs directly attributable to the development, design and implementation of the computer
software. Costs in respect of training and data conversion are expensed as incurred.

Customer relationship amartization is calculated using a systematic, accelerated approach based on the timing of future
expected cash flows. The straight-linc method is used for all other intangible asscts.

The estimated useful life of the respective intangible assets are as follows:

Customer relationships 4 — 15 years
Trade names and brands 1—15 years
Software 3 — 5 years
Other 1 —4 years

Impairment of long-lived assets

The recoverability of long-tived assets, including property, plant and equipment (“PPE™), right of use assets and definite-lived
intangible assets, is evaluated when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amounis of an asset group
may not be recoverable. Long-lived depreciable and amortizable assets are tested for impairment in asset groups, which are
defined as the lowest level of assets that generate identifiable cash flows that are largely independent of the cash flows of other
assel groups. A potential impairment has occurred for an asset group if projected future undiscounted cash flows expected to
result from the use and eventual disposition of the assets are less than the carrying amounts of the assets.

Inventories

Inventories, which comprise goods purchased for resale, are stated at the lower of cost or net realizable value. Cost is primarily
determined using the average cost method. The cost ot goods purchased for resale includes import and custom duties, iransport
and handling costs, freight and packing costs and other attributable costs less trade discounts and rebates. Net realizable value is
the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less applicable variable selling expenscs.

Inventory reserves are recorded against slow-moving, obsolete and damaged inventorics for which the net realizable value is
estimated to be less than the cost. The reserve is estimated based on the Company’s current knowledge with respect to
inventory levels, sales trends and historical expericnce.

Leases

The Company enters into contractual arrangements for the utilization of certain non-owned assets. These principally relate to
property for the Company’s branches, distribution centers and offices which have varying terms including extension and
termination options and periodic rent reviews.

The Company determines if an arrangement is a lease at inceplion. Leases are evaluated at commencement to determine proper
classification as an operating lease or a finance lcase. The Company’s leases primarily consist of operating leases. The
Company recognizes a right-of-use (“ROU") asset and lease liability at lease commencement based on the present value of
lease payments over the lcase term.

The Company generally uses its incremental borrowing rate as the discount rate as most of the Company’s lease arrangements
do not provide an implicit borrowing rale. The incremental borrowing rate is estimated using a combination of U.S. Treasury
note rates corresponding to lease terms, as well as a blended credit risk spread.
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For operating leases, tixed lease payments are recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term. The Company has elected
to not separate lease and non-lease components. Certain lease agreements include variable lease payments that depend on an
index, as well as payments for non-lease components, such as common area maintenance, and certain pass-through operating
expenses such as real cstate taxes and insurance. [n inslances where these payments are fixed, they are included in the
measurement of our lease liabilities. and when variable, are excluded and recognized in the period in which the obligations for
those payments arc incurred. The Company’s leases do not contain any material residual value guarantees or payments under
purchase and termination options which are reasonably certain to be exercised.

Lease terms are initially determined as the non-cancelable period of a lease adjusted for options to extend or terminate a lease
that are reasonably certain to be exercised. Generally, the Company’s real estate leases have initial terms of three to 10 years
and up to four exlension pericds that range from two to five years cach. Renewal options are typically not included in the lease
term as it is not reasonably cerlain at commencement date that the Company would exercise the extension options. Lease
liabilities are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the etfective interest method.

Right of use asscts are carried at cost less accumulated amortization, impairment losses, and any subsequent remeasurement of
the lease liability. Initial cost comprises the lease liability adjusted for leasc payments at or before the commencement date,
lease incentives received, initial direct costs and an cstimate of restoration costs. The Company recognizes minimum rent
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term,

[.eases that have an original term of 12 months or less are not recognized on the Company’s balance shect, and the lease
expensc related to those short-term leases is recognized over the lease term.

Property, plant and equipment (“PPE")

PPE is recorded at cost less accumulated depreciation. Cost includes expenditures necessary to acquire and prepare PPE for its
intended use. In addition, subsequent costs that increase the productive capacity or extend the useful lifc of PPE are capitalized.
The cost of repairs and maintenance are expensed as incurred.

Assets are depreciated 1o their estimated residual value using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives as
follows:

Owned buildings 20 - 50 years
Leasehold improvements Period of leasc
Plant and machinery 10 years
Computer hardware 3 - 5 years
Furniture, fixtures, equipment 5-7years
Vehicles 4 years
Rebates

‘The Company has agreements (“supplier rebates”) with a number of its suppliers whereby volume-based rebates, marketing
support and other discounts are received in connection with the purchase of goods for resale from those suppliers.

The majority of volume-based supplier rebates arc determined by refercnce to guaranteed rates of rebate. These calculations
require minimal judgment. A small proportion of volume-based supplier rebates are subject to tiered targets where the rebatc
percentage increases as volumes purchased reach agreed targets within a set period of time. The Company estimates supplict
rebates based an forecasts which are informed by historical trading patterns, current performance and trends.

Rebates relating to the purchase of goods tfor resale are accrued as carned and are recorded initially as a deduction in inventory
with a subsequent reduction in cost of sales when the related goods are sold. Supplier rebates receivable are offset with amounts
owed to each supplier at the balance sheet date and are included within accounts payables where the Company has the legal
right to offset and net sellles balances. Where the supplicr rebates are not oftset against amounts owed to a supplicr, the
outstanding amount is recorded in prepaid and other current assets in the consolidated balance sheet.
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Revenue recognition

The Company recognizes revenue when a sales arrangement with a customer exists (e.g., contract, purchasc orders. others), the
transaction price is fixed or determinable and the Company has satisfied its performance obligation per the sales arrangement.
The majority of the Company’s revenue originates from sales arrangements with a single performance obligation to deliver
products, whereby performance obligations are satisfied when control of the product is transferred to the customer which is the
point they are delivered to, or collected by, the customer. Therefore, shipping and handling activities are not deemed a separate
performance obligation. Revenue from the provision of goods is only recognized when the transaction price is determinable and
it is probable that the Company will collect the consideration to which it will be entitled in exchange for the goods to be
transferred to the customer. Payment terms between the Company and its customers vary by the type of customer, country of
sale and the products sold, The Company does not have significant financing components in its contracts and the payment due
date is typically shortly after sale.

In some limited cases, the Company’s contracts contain services and products that are deemed one performance obligation as
the services are highly interdependent and interrelated with the products or are significantly integrated with the products.
Contracts in which services provided are a separately identifiable performance obligation are not material.

In some instances, goods are delivered directly to the customer by the supplicr. The Company has concluded that it is the
principal in these transactions as it is primarily responsible to the customer for fulfilling the obligation and has the
responsibility for identifying and directing the supplier to deliver the goods to the customer.

The Company offers a right of return to its customers for most goods sold. Revenue is reduced by the amount of expected
returns in the period in which the related revenue is recorded with a corresponding liability recorded in other current liabilities.
The Company also recognizes a return asset in prepaid and other current assets with a corresponding adjustment to cost of sales,
for the right to recover the returned goods, measured at the former carrying value, less any expected recovery costs.

Share-based compensation

Share-based incentives are provided to associates under the Company’s long-term incentive plans and all-employce sharesave
plans. The Company recognizes a compensation cost in respect of these plans that is primarily based on the fair value of the
awards. For equity-scttled plans, the fair value is determined at the date of grant and is not subsequently remeasured unless the
conditions on which the award was granted are modified. For liability-settled plans, the fair value is initially determined at the
date of grant and is remeasured at each balance sheet date until the liability is settled. The related liability is recorded in other
current liabilities and other long-term liabilities. Generally, the compensation cost is recognized on a straight-line basis over the
vesting period, utilizing cumulative catch-up for changes in the Hability-settled plans. Estimates of expected forfeitures are
made at the date of grant to appropriately reduce expense for those grants expected not to satisly service conditions or non-
market performance conditions. The estimated forfeitures are adjusted when facts and circumstances indicate the prior estimate
is no longer appropriate.

Tax

The Company accounts for incomc taxes under the asset and liability method, which requires the recognition of deferred tax
assets ("DTAs™) and deferred tax liabilities (“DTLs™) for the expected future tax consequences of events that have been
included in the financial statements. Under this method, the Company determines DTAs and DTLs on the basis of the
differences between the financial statement and tax bases of assets and liabilities by using enacted tax rates in effect for the year
in which the differences ar¢ expected to reverse. The effect of a change in tax rates on DTASs and DTLs is recognized in income
in the period that includes the enactment date.

The Company recognizes DTAs to the extent that it believes these assets are more likely than not to be realized. In making such
a determination, the Company considets all available positive and negative evidence, including future reversals of existing
taxable temporary differences, projected future taxable income, tax-planning strategies, carryback potential if permitted under
the tax law, and results of recent operations. Tf the Company determines that it would be able to realize our DTAs in the future
in excess of their net recorded amount, the DTA valuation allowance would be appropriately adjusted, which would reduce the
provision for income taxes,

The Company records uncertain tax positions in accordance with Accounting Standard Codification {“ASC™) 740 on the basis
of a two-step process in which (1) it determines whether it is more likely than not that the tax positions will be sustained on the
basis of the technical merits of the position and (2) for those tax positions that meet the more-likely-than-not recognition
threshold, the Company recognizes the largest amount of tax benefit that is more than 50% likely to be realized upon ultimate
settlement with the related tax authority.
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Recently issued accounting proneuncements

Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) No. 2020-04. In March 2020, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB™)
issued ASU No. 2020-04, Reference Rate Reform (Topic 848): Facilitation of Effects of Reference Rate Reform on Financial
Reporting. This ASU. and subsequent claritications, provide practical expedients for contract modification accounting related to
the transition away from the London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR) and other interbank offering rates to alternative reference
rates. The expedients are applicable to contract moditications made and hedging relationships entered into on or before
December 31, 2022. The amendments should be applied an a praspective basis. The Company continues to evaluate the impact
of reference rate reform and does not currently expect a material impact to the Company’s consolidated financial statcments.

ASU No. 2021-08. In October 2021, the FASB issued ASU No. 2021-08, Business Combinations (Topic 805): Accounting for
Contract Assets and Contract Liabilities from Contracts with Customers. The amendments address how to determine whether a
contract liability is recognized by the acquirer in a business combination and provides specific guidance on how to recognize
and measure acquired contract assets and contract liabilities from revenue contracts in a business combination. For public
business entitics, the amendments in this ASU are effective for tiscal years beginning after December 15, 2022, including
interim periods within those fiscal ycars. Early adoption of the amendments is permitted, including adoption in an interim
period. The Company is evaluating this standard update and does not expect a material impact to the Company’s consaolidated
financial statements.

ASU No. 2022-03. In June 2022, the FASB issued ASU No. 2022-03, Fair Value Measurement (Topic 820): Fair Value
Measurement of Equity Securities Subject to Contractual Sale Restrictions. The amendments clarify that a contractual
restriction on the sale of an equity sccurity is nol considered part of the unit of account of the equity security and, therefore, is
not considered in measuring fair value. ASU 2022-03 also clarifies that an enlity cannot, as a separate unit of account.
recognize and measure a coniractual sale restriction. In addition, ASU 2022-03 introduces new disclosure rcguircments to
provide investors with information about coniractual sale restrictions, including the nature and remaining duration of these
restrictions. ASU 2022-03 is cffective for interim and annual periods beginning after December 15, 2023, although early
adoption is permitted. The Company's practice aligns with this clarification and il is evaluating the additional disclosure
requirements.

Recent accounting pronouncements pending adoption that are not discussed above are cither not applicable. or will not have, or
are not expected to have, a material impact on our consolidated {inancial condition, results of operations or cash flows.
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Note 2: Segment information

The Company reports ils financial results of operations on a geographical basis in the following two reportable segments:
United States and Canada. Fach segment generally derives its revenues in the same manner as described in note 1. The
Company uses adjusted operating profit as its measurc of scgment profil. Adjusted operating profit is defined as profit before
tax. excluding central and other costs, restructuring costs, amortization of acquired intangible assets, net interest expenses, as
well as other items typically recorded in net other (expense) income such as (loss)/gain on disposal of businesses, petision plan
changes/closure costs and amounts recorded in connection with the Company’s interests in investees. Certain income and
expenscs are not allocated to the Company’s segments and, thus. the information that management uses to make operating
decisions and assess performance does not reflect such amounts.

Segment details were as follows:

For the years ended July 31,

{In millions) 2022 2021 2020
Net sales:
United States $27,067 $21,478 $18,857
Canada 1,499 1,314 1,083
Total net sales $28,566 $22,792 $19,940
Adjusted operating profit:
United States $2,893 $2,070 $1,586
Canada 112 76 43
Central and other costs (34) (54) {42)
Business restructurings(” — 11 {72)
Corporate restructurings® (17) (22) 29)
Amortization of acquired intangible assets {114y (131 (114)
Interest expense, net {111} (98) 93)
Other (expense) income, nct (1) 10 (7)
Income before income taxes $2,708 $1,862 $1,272

(1) For fiscal 2021, business restructuring reflects the release of provisions in connection with previously anticipated
COVID-19 cost actions recorded in fiscal 2020, For fiscal 2020, business restructuring principally comprised costs
incurred in the United States and Canada in respect ol cost actions taken to ensure the business was appropriately sized for
the post COVID-19 operating environmend.

(2) Forfiscal 2022, 2021 and 2020, corporate restructuring costs primarily related (o the incremental costs of the Company’s
listing in the United States.

26



An additional disaggregation of net sales by end market for continuing operations is as follows:

For the years ended July 31,

(In millions) 2022 2021 2020
United States:
Residential $14,657 £11,990 $10,087
Non-residential:
Commercial 8,600 6,661 6,116
Civil/Infrastructure 2,163 1,506 1,315
[ndustrial 1,647 1,321 1,339
Total Non-residential 12,410 9,488 8,770
Tatal United States 27,067 21,478 18.857
Canada 1,499 1,314 1,083
Total net sales $28,566 $22,792 $19.940

No sales to an individual customer accounted for more than 10% of net sales during any of the last three fiscal years.

The Company is a valuc-added distributor of products from infrastructure, plumbing and appliances to HVAC., fire, fabrication
and more. We offer a broad line of products, and items are regularly added to and removed from the Company's inventory.
Accordingly. it would be impractical to provide sales information by product category due to the way the business is managed,
and the dynamic nature of the inventory offered.

Depreciation and amortization and capital expenditures by segment:

For the years ended July 31,

(In millions) 2022 2021 2020

Depreciation and amortization:

United States” $292 $288 $270

Canada 9 9 10

Corporate — i 2
Total depreciation and amortization $301 $298 $282

M Includes amortization of acquired intangible assets of $114 million, $131 million and $1 13 million in 2022, 2021 and 2020, respectively.
These amounts are not included in the United States segment adjusted operating profit.

Capital expenditures:

United States 283 232 278
Canada 7 9 5
Corporate — — —

Total capital expenditures $290 5241 $283

Assets by segment include:

As of July 31,
{Tn millions) 2022 2021
Assets:
United States $13.747 $11,247
Canada 802 737
Corporate 1,112 1,725
Fotal assets $15.661 $13.709

27



Note 3: Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated using our weighted-average outstanding common shares. Diluted carnings per share is
calculated using our weighted-average outstanding common shares including the dilutive effect of share awards as determined
under the treasury stock method.

The following table shows the calculation of diluted shares:

For the years ended July 31,

{In millions, except per share amounts) 2022 2021 2020
Income from continuing operations 2,099 $1,630 $973
Incowie (luss) hrom discontinuced operations (net of tax) 23 {158) (12)
Net income , $2,122 $1,472 $561

Weighted average number of shares outstanding;:

Basic weighted-average shares 217.7 2235 2248
Effect of dilutive securities 1.2 1.3 2.0
Diluted weighted-average shares 218.9 224.8 226.8

Earnings per share - Basic:

Continuing operations $9.64 §$7.29 $4.32
Discontinued operations 0.11 (0.70) (0.05)
Total $9.75 $6.59 $4.27

Earnings per share - Diluted:

Continuing operations $9.59 $7.25 $4.29

Discontinued operations 0.10 {0.7) (0.05)
Total $9.69 $6.55 $4.24
Excluded anti-dilutive shares 0.1 0.1 0.1

Note 4: Income tax
Earnings betore income tax by geographical arca consisted of the following:

For the years ended July 31,

{In millions) 2022 2021 2020
United Kingdom $102 $123 $74
United States 2,222 1,385 856
International 384 354 342

Total $2,708 $1,862 $1,272

28



Provision for income taxes consisted of the following:

For the years ended July 31,

{In millions) 2022 2021 2020
Current:
United Kingdom (318) $5 $10
Federal and state (U.S.) 528 364 245
International 58 48 35
Tota! current $568 3417 $290
Deferred:
United Kingdom £20 ($8) 11
Federal and state (U.8.) 20 (176) (3}
International 1 4} i
Total deferred 541 ($185) $9
Provision for income tax $609 $232 $299
The following is a reconciliation of income tax expense with income taxes at the UK. statutory rate:
For the years ended July 31,
{In millions) 2022 2021 2020
Provision for income taxes at U.K. statutory
rate!") $515 19.0 % $354 19.0 % $242 19.0 %
Non-U K. tax rate differentials 127 4.7 68 3.7 29 23
Impact of change in reserves 8 0.2 {138) {7.4) 33 2.6
Tax rate change — — (29) (L.o) 3) 0.4)
Tax credits (%) 0.3) (12) {0.6) (6) 0.5
Non-taxable income (9 (0.3) (18) (L.0) (8) {0.6)
Other (23) (0.8) 7 0.4 14 1.1
Income tax expense $609 22.5 % $232 12.5 % $299 235 %

{1) Ferguson, pic is tax resident in the U.K. Theretore,

the Company has utilized the UK. statutory rate.
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Deferred Taxes

Significant components of the Company’s deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows:

As of July 31,

(In millions) 2022 2021
Assets:
Deferred compensation $48 $63
Tax loss carry forwards 184 184
Lease liabilities 306 275
Warranty and other liabilities 103 140
Inventory 50 68
Other 37 64
Total deferred tax assets 728 794
Valuation allowance 77 (77)
Total deferred tax assets, net of valuation allowance $651 £717
Liabilities:
Right of use assets ($306) ($281)
Goodwill and intangible assets {119) (99)
Tax method change (49) 97)
Total deferred tax liabilities (474) (477)
Net deferred tax assets $177 $240

We recognize a valuation aliowance i, based on the weight of available evidence, it is more likely than not that some portion,
or all, of a deferred tax asset will not be realized. OQur valuation allowance at July 31, 2022 and 2021 relates to foreign net
capital loss carryforwards in the UK. and Canada which are not expected to be realizable. IFor the year ended July 31, 2022,
there was no change in the valuation allowance (2021: $30 million and 2020: $2 million).

As of July 31, 2022, the Company had $711 million of gross loss carryforwards related to the United Kingdom operations. At
July 31, 2022, the Company had U.S. federal and state net operating loss carryforwards for income tax purposes of $19 million
and $17 million, respectively. Some of the loss carryforwards may expire at various dates through 2039, At July 31, 2022, the
Company had $8 million of gross loss carryforwards related to international operations. A portion of these losses related to
capital losses were oftset with valuation allowances.

Unrecognized Tax Benefiis
The following table reconciles the beginning and ending amount of our grass unrecognized tax benefits:

For the years ended July 31,

(In millions) 2022 2021 2020
Unrecognized tax benefits at beginning of fiscal year $132 $245 $220
Additions based on tax positions related to current ycar 27 28 26
Additions for tax positions of prior years 11 2 —
Reductions for tax positions of prior years — (8) —
Reductions due to settlements — — {1)
Reductions due to lapse of statute of limitations (30) {135) —

Total $140 $132 $245
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As of July 31, 2022, the unrecognized tax benefits that, if recognized, would impact the effective tax rate were $140 million
(2021; $132 miilion and 2020: $245 million). The Company recognizes interest and penalties in the income tax provision in its
consolidated statements of earnings. As of July 31, 2022, the Company had accrued interest of $17 million (2021: $16 million
and 2020: $66 million). For the year end luly 31, 2022, the interest included in income tax expensc was an expense of $i
million (2021: benetit $42 million and 2020: expense $21 million}. Penalties relaied to these positions were not material for afl
periods presented.

The total amount of unrecognized tax benetits relating to the Company’s tax positions is subject to change based on future
cvents including, but not limited to, the settlement of ongoing tax audits and assessments and the expiration ol applicable
statutes of limitations. The Company anticipates that the balance of gross unrecognized tax benefits, excluding interest and
penalties, will be reduced by $23 million during the next 12 months, primarily due to the anticipated settlement of tax
examinations and statute of limitation expirations. However, the outcomes and timing of such events are highly uncertain and
changes in the occurrence, expected outcomes and timing of such events could cause the Company’s current estimate to change
materially in the future.

Reinvestment of Unremitied earnings

We consider foreign earnings of specific subsidiaries to be indefinitely reinvested. These permanently reinvested carnings of
foreign subsidiaries at July 31, 2022 amounted to $638 miliion (2021: $551 million). The Company is not recording a deferred
tax liability, if any, on such amounts. If at some future date, thc Company ceases to be permanently reinvested in these foreign
subsidiaries, the Company may be subject Lo foreign withholding and other taxes on these undistributed earnings and may need
to record a deferred tax liability for any outside basis difference on these specific foreign subsidiaries.

Tax Return Examinafion Stestus

The Company files income tax returns in the UK., U.S. and in various foreign, stale and local jurisdictions. We are subject to
tax audiis in the various jurisdictions until the respective statutes of limitation expire. The Company is no longer subject to UK.
examinations by tax authorities for tiscal years before 2019 and U.S. federal income tax examinations by tax authorities for
fiscal years beforc 2019. There are ongoing U.S. statc and local audits and other foreign audits covering fiscal 2008-2020. We
do not expect the results from any ongoing income tax audit to have a material impact on our consolidated financial condition,
results of operations or cash flows.

Naote 5: Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment consisted of the following:

As of July 31,

(In millions) 2022 2021 1
Land $273 8271
Buildings 1,103 1.048
Leasehold improvements 455 423
Plant and machincry 719 641
Other equipment 146 143
Property, plant and equipment 2,696 2,526
Less: Accumulated depreciation (1.320} (1,221)
Property, plant and equipment, net $1.376 $1,305

Depreciation related to propetty, plant and equipment included in operating costs tor fiscal 2022 was $140 million (2021: $130
million and 2020: $139 million).



Note 6: Leases

Lease-related assets and liabilities as presented in the consolidated balance sheets consist of the following:

As of July 31,

(In millions) 2022 2021
Assets:

Operating lease right-of-use assets $1,200 $1,102
Liabilities:

Current portion of operating lease liabilities $321 $263

Long-term portion of operating lease liabilities 878 827
Total lease liabilities $1,199 $1.050

The components of leasing costs, included in SG&A, consist of the following:

For the years ended July 31,

{In millions) 2022 2021 2020
Operating lease costs $349 $318 $313
Variable lease cost 72 62 59
Short-term lease costs 14 1 10
Total lease costs $435 $381 $382

Variable lease costs represent costs incurred in connection with non-lease components, such as common area maintenance, and
certain pass-through operating expenscs such as rcal estate taxes and insurance.

The weighted average remaining lease terms and discount rates for the Company’s operating leases were as follows:
As of July 31,

2022 2021
Weighted average remaining lease term (years) 5.1 5.1

Weighted average discount rate 3.3 % 3.6 %

The future minimum rental payments under operating lease obligations, having initial or remaining non-cancelable lease terms
in excess of one year are summarized as follows:

As of July 31,
(In millions) 2022
2023 $330
2024 297
2025 234
2026 166
2027 108
Thereafter 182
Total undiscounted lease payments 1,317
Less: imputed interest (118)
Present value of liabilities £1,199

The fulure minimum lease payments in the table above exclude payments for leases that have not yet commenced.



Supplemental cash flow information related to leascs from continuing operations consists of the following:

For the years ended July 31,

{In millions) 2022 2021 2020
Cash paid for operating leases (operating cash flows) $337 $321 3310
Lease assets obtained in exchange for new operating lease liabilities (non-

cash) 362 158 115

As of July 31, 2022, the Company had $238 million of non-cancelable operating leases that have not yet commenced. These
leases will commence in {iscal 2023 with terms similar to the Company’s current operating leases.

Note 7: Goodwill

The Company complcted its annual impairment analysis for goodwill during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2022, Based on the
results of the Company’s analysis, the Coimpany concluded that the fair value of cach reporting unit was substantially in excess
of its respective carrying value. There were no impairment charges related 1 goodwill in fiscal 2022, 2021 or 2020.

The following table presents the changes in the net carrying amount of goodwill allocated by reportable segment for the years
ended July 31, 2022 and 2021;

(In millions) United States Canada Total
Balance as of July 31, 2020 $1,590 5147 $1,737
Acquisitions 80 — 80
Effect of currency translation adjustment e 11 H
Balance as of July 31, 2021 1,670 158 1,828
Acquisitions 224 — 224
Effect of currency translation adjustment — (4) (4)
Balance as of July 31, 2022 $1,894 $154 $2,048
Cumulative goodwill impairment as of July 31, 2022 108 11 119

Cumulative halance of historical goodwill impairments as of July 31, 2022, as shown above, was the same for all periods
presented herein. See note 16 for turther information on the additions to goodwill in tiscal 2022.



Note 8: Other intangible assets

The Company's major categories of definite-lived intangible assets and the respective weighted-average remaining usetful lives
consist of the following:

As of July 31, 2022 Asof July 31, 2021
Weighted average Gross Gross

(In millions, except remaining remaining useful Carrying Accumulated Carrying Accumulated
useful life) life (years) Amount Amortization Amount Amortization
Software 4 $370 (5198) $305 (8156)
Customer relationships* 8 1,138 (602) 857 {592)
Tradenames and brands* 5 258 (171) 230 (141}
Other* 4 206 (159) 187 (144)

Total intangible assets $1.972 ($1,190) $1,579 ($1,033)

* Acquired intangible assets
Amortization expense of intangible assets for the years ended July 31, 2022, 2021, and 2020 was $161 million, $168 million,
and $143 million, respectively. In fiscal 2022, the Company also recorded a $15 million impairment charge in SG&A related to

internal use soflware projects in the United States as the Company determined the benefits of the work capitalized would not be
realized.

As of July 31, 2022, expected amortization expense tor the unamortized definite-lived intangible assets for the next five years
and thereafter is as follows:

Asof July 31,

{In millions) 2022
2023 $171
2024 155
2025 143
2026 106
2027 79
Thereafter 128
Total $782



Note 9: Debt
The Company’s debt obligations consisted of the following:

As of July 31,

{In millions) 2022 2021
Variable-rate debt:
Receivable Securitization Facility 455 —
Private Placement Notes:
3.43% due September 2022 250 250
3.30% due November 2023 55 55
3.44% due November 2024 150 150
3.73% due September 2025 400 400
3.51% due November 2026 150 150
3.83% due September 2027 150 150
Unsecured Senior Notes:
4.50% due October 2028 750 750
3.25% due June 2030 600 600
4.25% due April 2027 300 —
4.65% due April 2032 700 —
Subtotal $3,960 $2,565
Less: current maturities of debt (250) -—
Unamortized discounts and debt issuance costs {24) (16)
Interest rate swap - fair value adjustment (7 23
Total long-term debt $3.679 $2,512

Private Placement Notes

In June 2015 and November 2017, Wolseley Capital, Inc. (“Wolseley Capital™). a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company,
privately placed fixed rate notes in an aggregate principal amount of $860 million and $355 million, respectively (collectively,
the “Private Placement Notes™). Interest on the Private Placement Notes is payable semi-annually. There was an additional $95
million of variable rate notes issued in November 2017 that were re~paid in fiscal 2021.

Wolscley Capital’s obligations under the note and guarantee agreements arc unconditionally guaranieed by the Company and
Ferguson UK Holdings Limited. Wolseley Capilal may repay the outstanding Private Placement Notes, in whole or in part, at
any time al & price equal to 100% of the principal amount being prepaid plus a “make-whole” prepayment premium.

The note purchase agreements relating to the Private Placement Notes contain certain customary affirmative covenants, as well
as cerlain customary negative covenants that. among other things, restrict, subject to certain exceptions, the Company’s non-
guarantor subsidiaries” ability to incur indebtedness and the Company’s ability to enter into affiliate transacticns, grant liens on
its assefs, scll assets, or engage in acquisitions, mergers or consolidations. In addition, subject 1o certain exceptions, ihe note
purchase agreements require us to maintain a leverage ratio.

The outstanding Private Placement Notes contain customary events of default. Upon an event of default and an aceeleratton of
the Private Placement Notes, the Company must rcpay the outstanding Private Placement Notes plus a make-whole premium
and accrued and unpaid interest.



Unsecured Senior Notes

Since 2018, Ferguson Finance, ple (*“Ferguson Finance™) has issued $2.350 million in unsecured senior notes (collectively, the
~“Unsecured Scnior Notes™) which are guaranteed by the Company.

The Unsecured Senior Notes are fully and unconditionally guaranteed on a direct, unsubordinated and unsecured senior basis
by the Company and generally carry the same terms and conditions with interest paid semi-annually. The Unsecured Senior
Notes may be redeemed, in whole or in part (i) at 100% of the principal amount on the notes being redeemed plus a “make-
whole™ prepayment premium at any time prior to three months before the maturity date (the “Notes Par Call Date™) or (ii) after
the Notes Par Call Date at 100% of the principal amount of the notes being redeemed plus accrued and unpaid interest on the
principal being redeemed. The Unsecured Scnior Notes include covenants, subject to certain exceptions, which include
limitations on the granting of liens and on mergers and acquisitions.

Revolving Credit Facility

The Revolving Facility Agreement {as amended from time to time, the “Revolving Facility™), dated March 10, 2020, among the
Company, Ferguson UK Holdings Limited, the lenders and arrangers party thereto, and the agent of the lenders party thereto,
consists of'a $1.1 billion unsccured, revolving loan facility, which terminates in March 2026. The Revolving Facility includes
an uncommitted accordion feature that permits the Company to request that the total commitments thereunder be increased by
an aggregate amount not to exceed $250 million, subject Lo the terms and conditions set forth therein. Borrowings are available
to the Company and certain of its subsidiaries and bear interest at a rate cqual to the sum of LIBOR, plus an applicable margin
determined based on our public credit ratings. We are required to pay a quarterly commitment fee and utilization fee in certain
circumstances. All obligations under the Revolving Facility are unconditionally guaranteed by the Company and Ferguson UK
Holdings Limited, to the extent each entity is not the borrower with respect to such obligation.

The Revolving Facility contains certain customary affirmative covenanis, as well as certain customary negative covenants that,
among other things, restrict, subject to certain exceptions, the ability of the Company and its subsidiaries to incur indebtedness,
grant liens on present or future assets and revenues. sell assets, or engage in acquisitions, mergers or consolidations. The
Revolving Facility also contains certain events of default, cross-default provisions and cross-acceleration provisions (in each
case, with certain grace periods and thresholds).

As of July 31, 2022 and 2021, no borrowings were outstanding under the Revolving Facility.
Bilateral Loan

The Company maintains an unsecurcd $300 million 364-day revolving facility agreement with Sumitomo Mitsui Banking
Corporation, London Branch, as lead arranger, the lenders party thereto, and SMBC Bank International PLC, as agent for the
lenders, which expires in March 2023 (the “Bilateral Loan Agreement™). The Bilateral Loan Agreement includes an extension
feature that permits the Company, prior to the first anniversary of the date of the Bilateral Loan Agreement, {o request that the
termination date thereunder be extended for a further period of 364 days, subject to the terms and conditions set forth therein.
Borrowings are available 10 the Company and certain of its subsidiaries and bear interest at a rate equal to the sum of Term
SOFR, plus a margin and variable credit adjusument spread depending on the interest period. We are required to pay a quarterly
commitment fee. All obligations under the Bilateral 1.oan Agreement are unconditionally guaranteed by the Company, to the
extent that the Company is not the borrower with respect o such obligation. The Bilateral Loan Agreement contains certain
affirmative and negative covenants and cvents of default that are subsilantially similar to those contained in the Revolving
Facility.

As of July 31, 2022 and 2021, no borrowings were autstanding under the Bilateral L.oan Agreement.
Receivable Securitization Facility

The Company’s Receivables Securitization I'acility (the “Receivables Facility™) is primarily governed by the Receivables
Purchase Agreement, dated July 31, 2013, as amended. The Company does not factor its account receivables as this facility is
only secured borrowings.



As of July 31, 2022, the Receivables Facility consisted of accounts receivable funding for up to $800 million, terminating in
May 2024. The Company has available to it an accordion feature whereby the commitment on the Receivables Facility may be
increased up to $1.0 billion subject 1o lender participation. At all times, all borrowings under the Receivables Facitity are
recorded on the consolidated balance sheet of the Company.

Interest is payable under the Receivables Facility at a rate equal to LIBOR, or the commercial paper rates of the conduit
lenders, plus an applicable margin. The Company pays customary fecs regarding unused amounts to maintain the availability
under the Receivables Facility.

The Receivabies Facility contains certain customary affirmative covenants. as well as certain customary necgative covenants
that, among other things, restrict, subject to certain exceptions, the ability of the Company and its subsidiaries party thereto
from granting additional liens on the account receivables, selling certain assets or engaging in acquisitions, mergers or
consolidations, or, in the case of the borrower. incurring other indebtedness.

The Receivables Facility also contains certain cuslomary events of defauit and cross-default provisions, including requirements
that our performance in relation to account receivables remains at set levels (specifically. among other things, relating to timely
payments being received from debtors on the account receivables and to the amount of account receivables written off as bad
debt) and that a required level of account receivables be generated and available to support the borrowings under the
arrapgements. As of fuly 31, 2022, $455 million in borrowings were outstanding under the Receivables Facitity. No amounts
were outstanding at July 31, 2021.

The Company was in compliance with all debt covenants for all facilities as of July 31, 2022 and 2021,

Debt maturities, exclusive of unamortized original issue discounts, unamortized debt issuance costs, fair-value hedge
adjustments, and finance lease obligations. for the next five fiscal years and thereafter are as follows:

As of July 31,

(In millions) 2022
2023 $250
2024 310
2025 150
2026 400
2027 450
Thereafter 2,200
Totat $3,960



Note 10; Assets and liabilities at fair value

The Company’s assets and liabilities recorded at fair value are summarized as follows:

As of July 31,

Fair Value
{In milliens) Hierarchy 2022 2021

Assets at fair value recorded in profit & loss:

Current:
Derivative financial assets Level 2 $2 $5
Non-current;
Derivative financial assets Level 2 — 16
Investments in equity investments Level 3 26 18

Liabilities at fair value recorded in profit & loss:
Current:
Derivative financial liabilities Level 2 3 —

Non-current:

(53

Derivative financial liabilities Level 2
Derivative Instruments

The Company’s derivatives relate principally to interest rate swaps, designated as fair value hedges, to manage its exposure to
interest rate movements on its debt. They are measured at fair value on a recurring basis through profit and loss using forward
interest curves which are Level 2 inputs. No transters between levels occurred during the current or prior year, The notional
amount of the Company’s outstanding fair vatue hedges as of July 31, 2022 and 2021 was $355 million. The Company
generally enters into master netting arrangements, which are designed to reduce credit risk by permitling net seitlement of
transactions with the same counterparty.

Other Fair Value Disclosures

Due to their short maturitics or their insignificance, the carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable,
accounts payable, accrued liabilities and short-term debt approximated their fair values at July 31, 2022 and 2021.

Non-recurring fair value measurements
Fair valuc estimates are made in connection with the Company’s acquisitions. See note 16 for further details.
Equity investments

The fair value of the Company’s equity investments is measured on a recurring basis using market derived valuation methods
upon occurrence of orderly transactions for identical or similar assets which is deemed a Level 3 input.

Liabilities for which fair value is only disclosed

The Company estimates that, based on current market conditions, the total tair value of its Unsecured Senior Notes was $2,350
million (2021: $1,538 million) compared with the carrying value of $2,328 million (2021: $1,337 million). The fair value of the
Company’s Private Placemenl Notes is estimated at $1,142 million (2021: $1.273 million) compared with a carrying value of
$1,153 million {2021: $1,152 million). The difference in fair values results from changes, since issuance, in the corporate debt
markets and investor preferences. The fair value of the Unsecured Senior Notes and Private Placement Notes are classified as
Level 2 fair value measurements, and were cstimated using quoted market prices as provided in secondary markets that
consider the Company's credit risk and market-related conditions.



Note 11: Commitments and contingencies
Legal matters

'The Company is, from time to time, involved in various legal proceedings considered to be normal course of business in
rclation to, among other things, the products that we supply, contractual and commercial disputes and disputes with employees.
Provision is made if, on the bagsis of current information and professional advice, liabilities are considered likely to arise. In the
case of unfavorable outcomes, the Company may benefit from applicable insurance protection. The Company does not expect

any of its pending lcgal proceedings Lo have a malerial adverse effect on its results of operations, financial position or cash

flows.

Note 12: Accumulated other comprehensive loss

The change in accumulated other comprehensive income was as follows:

Foreign

currency
{In millions, net of tax) translation Pensions Total
Balance at July 31, 2019 ($599) ($282) ($381)
Other comprchensive income before reclassifications 24 (202} (178)
Amounts reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income 9 5 14
Other comprehensive income (loss) 33 (197 (164)
Balance at July 31, 2020 ($566) ($479) {$1.,045)
Other comprehensive income before reclassifications 35 06 101
Amounts reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income 135 13 148
Other comprehensive income 170 79 249
Balance at July 31, 2021 {$396) ($400) ($796)
Other comprehensive income before reclassitications (24) (18) (42)
Amounts reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income —- 8 g
Other comprehensive income (loss) (24) (10) (34)
Balance at July 31, 2022 ($420) ($410} ($830)

Amounts reclassitied from accumulated other comprehensive income related to pension and other post-retirement items include

the related income tax impacts. Such amounts consisted of the following:

For the years ended July 31,

(In millions, net of tax) 2022 2021 2020

Amortization of actuarial losses 510 $18 $7

Tax benefit 2) (5 (2)
Amounts reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income $8 $13 $5

Note 13: Retirement benefit obligations

The Company provides various retirement benefits to eligible employces. including pension benefits associated with defined
benetit plans, contributions to defined contribution plans, post-retirement benefits and other benefits. Eligibility requirements

and benefit levels vary depending on associate location.

The Company provides defined benefit plans to its employces in Canada and the United Kingdom. The majority of the
Canadian defined benefit plans are funded. Post-tetirement benefit abligations are not material and have been included in all

amounts presented herein.

The principal U.K. defined benefit plan is the Wolseley Group Retirement Benetits Plan which provides benefits based on final
pensionable salaries. The assets are held in separate trustec administered funds. The plan was closed (o new entrants in 2009, it
was closed o future service acerual in December 2013, when it was replaced by a defined contribution plan, and it was closed
during October 2016 for future non-inflationary salary accrual.
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In 2017, the Company secured a buy-in insurance policy with Pension Insurance Corporation for the UK, defined benefit plan.
‘This policy covered all of the benefits provided by the plan to pensioner members at the time. The insurance assct is valued as
cxactly equal to the insured liabilitics.

Tn 2021, prior to the disposal of the UK. business, Wolseley UK Limited, the U.K. defined benefit plan was transferred to
Ferguson UK Holdings Limited.

The net periodic benefit costs were valued with a measurement date of July 31 for each year. The funded status of the
Company’s plans was as tollows:

For the years ended July 31,

(In millions) 2022 2021

Change in net benefit obligations:

Beginning balance $2,208 $2,283
Service cost — 3
Interest cost 41 32
Actuarial {gain) loss (554) {(I71)
Bencfits paid (71 (77)
Exchange rate adjustment (222) 138

Ending balance $1,402 $2.208

Change in assets at fair value:

Beginning balance $2,304 $2,220
Actual return on plan assets {506) (33)
Company contributions 15 56
Benefits paid (71 7N
Fxchange rate adjustment (234) 138

Ending balance at fair value $1,508 $2,304

Funded status of plans $106 $96

Lxpected employer contributions to the defined benefit plans for the year ending July 31, 2023 are up to $135 million.
Amounts recognized in the balance sheet consisted of:

As of July 31,

{In millions) 2022 2021
Noen-current asset $114 $108
Non-current liability (8) (12)

Amounis recognized in accumulated other comprehensive income loss:

As of July 31,

(In millions) 2022 2021
Net actuarial loss $537 $538
Income tax impact (127) (138)
Accumulated other comprehensive koss 3410 $400
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Components of other comprehensive loss (income) consisted of the following:

For the years ended July 31,

(In millions) 2022 2021 2020
Net actuarial (gain) loss ($3) (§78) $249
Amortization ot net actuarial loss (1 (18) (7
Impact of exchange rates 12 — —
Income tax impact 11 17 {45)
Other comprehensive loss (income) $ 10 ($79) $197

The costs associated with all of the Company’s plans were as follows:

For the years ended July 31,

(En millions) 2022 2021 2020
Selling, general and administrative expenses
Service costs $— £3 $3
Other expense (income), net
Amortization of net actuarial losses 10 18 7
Interest cost 41 32 36
Expected return on plan assets (45) (60} (53)
Net periodic benefit (income) cost $6 7 &3]
Weighted-average assumptions:
Discount rate, nct periodic benefit cost 1.78 % 1.56 % 221 %
Discount rate, benefit obligations 353 % 1.78 % 1.56 %
Expected return on plan assets 212 % 2.60 % 3.15 %
235 % 213 % 2,08 %

Salary growth rate

The Company determines the discount rate primarily by reference to rates on high-quality, long-term corporate and government
bonds that mature in a pattern similar to the expected payments to be made under the various plans. The weighted average
discount rate assumptions used by the Company to determine the benefit obligations was 3.53%, 1.78% and 1.56% for fiscal

2022, 2021 and 2020, respectively.

The Company has established strategic asset allocation percentage targets tor signiticant asset classes with the aim of achieving
an appropriate balance between risk and return. The Company periodically reviscs asset allocations, where appropriate, in an
elfort o improve returm and/or manage risk. The expected return on plan assets is determined based on the expected long-term
rate of return on plan assets and the markct-related value of plan assets. The market-relaled value of plan assets is based on
long-term expectations given current investment objectives and historical results. The weighted average expected rate of return
assumptions were 2.12%. 2.60%, and 3.15% for fiscal 2022, 2021 and 2020, respectively.

Investment Strategy

The Company’s investment strategy for its funded post-employment plans is decided locally and, if relevant, by the trustees of
the plan and takes account of the relevant statutory requirements. The Company’s objective for the investment strategy is to
achievc a target rate of return in excess of the increase in the liabilitics, while taking an acceptable amount of investment risk
relative ta the liabitities. This objective is implemented by using specific allocations to a variety ot asset classes that are
expected over the long term to deliver the target rate of return.

For the U.K. plan, the guaranteed insurance policy represents approximately 30% of the plan assets. For the remaining asscts,
the sirategy is to invest in a mix of equities, bonds and other income-generating asset classes so that expected cash flows
broadly match a high proportion of the cash flows of the plan’s expected lizbilities. The investment strategy is subject to regular

review by the trustees of the plan in consultation with the Company.
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For the plans in Canada, the investment strategy is to invest predominantly in equities and bonds.
The Company’s weighted-average assct allocations by asset category were as follows:

As of July 31,

2022 2021
Asset category:
Equity securities 2 % 2%
Fixed income securities 67 70
Cash. cash equivalents and other short-term investments 2 1
Guaranteed insurance policies 29 27
Total 100 % 100 %

The following table presents the fair value of the Company’s plan assets using the fair value hierarchy as of July 31, 2022:

As of July 31, 2022
(In millions) Tatal Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

U.K. Plan assets:
Fixed income securities:

Corporate 639 8 492 139
Asset hacked 80 16 38 6
Government 246 — 239 7
Cash and cash equivalents 25 22 3 —
Insurance policies 418 — — 418

Canada Plan assets:
Equity securities 35 35 — —
Fixed income securities:

Corporate 7 _ 7 _
Government 32 e 32 —
Cash and cash equivalents 1 1 —_ _
Other 25 14 11l —
$1,508 $96 $842 8570
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The following table presents the fair value of the Company’s plan assets using the fair value hierarchy as of July 31, 2021:

As of July 31, 2021

{In millions) Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
U.K. Plan assets:

Fixed income securities:

Corporate 889 11 716 162
Asset backed 173 27 13% 7
Government 492 — 477 i5
Cash and cash equivalents 19 15 4 —
Insurance policies 602 — — 602

Canada Plan assets:

Equity securities 48 48 — —

Fixed income securities:
Corporate 13 — 13 —
Government 40 — 40 —
Cash and cash equivalents i 1 — —
Other 27 16 11 —
$2,304 $118 $1,400 $786

The following table presents a reconciliation of the beginning and ending balances of the fair valuc measurements using
significant unobservable inputs (Level 3%

For the years ended July 31,

{In millions) 2022 2021

Beginning balance $786 $707
Realized gains (108) (113)
Purchases, sales and settlements, net, {20} 147
Impact of exchange rates {88) 45

Ending balance $570 $786

The Company cxpects the following benefit payments related to its defined benefit pension plan over the next 10 years:

As of July 31,

(In millions) 2022
2023 $62
2024 64
2025 65
2026 67
2027 68
2028-2032 367
Total $693
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Defined Contribution Plans
The Company contributes to both employee compensation deferral and profit-sharing plans.

The principal plans operated for employees in the United States are defined contribution plans, which are established in
accordance with 401k rules in the United States, as well as a Supplemental Ixecutive Retirement Plan.

The Company s Canadian employees are covered by detined contribution plans including a Post Retirement Benefil Plan and
Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan. Undet the Canadian plans, the Company’s employces are able to make personal
contributions.

Total expense related to defined contribution plans in tiscal 2022 was $87 million (2021: $74 million and 2020: $68 million).
Deferred compensation plan

The Company offers its employces a deferred compensation plan that was established to provide added incentive for the
retention of key employecs. The Company’s obligations related to the plan total $297 million (2021: $328 million), including a
current portion of the liability of $29 million (2021: $31 million). The Company has investments in Company-owned life
insurance policies that are intended to fund these obligations, however, these assets are subject to the general claims of the
Company’s creditors. The assets are recorded at cash surrender value with changes recognized in earnings. The non-current
assets total $293 million (2021: $332 million).

Note 14: Sharcholders’ equity

The following table presents a summary of the Company’s share activity:

For the years ended July 31,

2022 2021 2020
Ordinary shares:
Balance at beginning of period 232,171,182 232,171,182 232,171,182
Change in shares issued — — —
Balance at end of period 232,171,182 232,171,182 232,171,182
Treasury shares:
Balance at beginning of petiod (9,862,816) (7.280,222) (2,036,945)
Repurchases of ordinary shares (11,413,180) (3,020,368}  (5,591,570)
Treasury shares used to settle share-based compensation awards 197,419 437,774 348,293
Balance at end of period (21,078,577)  (9.,862.816)  (7,280,222)
Employee Benefit Trust:
Balance at beginning of period (833,189 (1,277,347  (1,563,778)
New shares purchased (600,000) — (307,345)
Emptoyee Benefit Trust shares used to settle share-based compensation awards 586,698 444,158 593,776
Balance at end of period (846,491) (833,189)  (1,277,347)
Total shares outstanding at end of period 210,246,1i4 221475177 223,613,613

Two Employee Benefit Trusts havce been established in connection with the Company’s discretionary share option plans and
long-term incentive ptans. Dividends due on shares held by the Employee Benefit Trusts are waived in accordance with the
provisions of the trust deeds. At July 31, 2022, the shares held in trusts had a market value of $107 million (2021: §117
million).
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Share Repurchases

In September 2021, the Company announced a program to repurchase up 1o $1.0 billion of shares with the aim of completing
the purchases within 12 months. in March 2022, the Company announced an increase of $1.0 billion to its share repurchase
program, bringing the total to $2.0 billion. As of July 31, 2022, the Company has completed $1.5 billion of the announced $2.0
billion repurchase program. In September 2022, the Company extended its share repurchase program by an additional $0.5
bitlion, resulting in a remaining balance ot $1.0 billion, which is expected to be completed within the next [2 months, The
Company is currently purchasing shares under an irrevocable and non-discretionary arrangement (the “Arrangement”) with
$324 million in accrued repurchases remaining, which is recorded as a current liability in the consolidated balance sheet.

Naote 15: Share-based compensation

‘The Ferguson Group International Sharesave Plan 2011, the Ferguson Group International Sharesave Plan 2019 and the
Ferguson Group Long Term Incentive Plan 2019 (the “LTIP”) provide guidelines to determine the maximum number of’
ordinary shares that can be granted under cach plan. Under these plans, the Company cannot grant equity awards that would
result in the issuance of ordinary shares that, when aggregaied with awards issued and outstanding under all of" the Company’s
other equity plans, would exceed 10% of the Companys issued ordinary share capital (adjusted for sharc issuance and
cancellation) in any rolling 10-year period. In addition, as applicable, the Company is committed to not issuing new shares or
reissuing treasury shares to executives under its equity plans that, when aggregated with issued and outstanding awards held by
executives under ail of the Company’s other equity plans, would exceed 5% of the issued ordinary share capital of the
Company (adjusted for share issuance and cancellation) in any rolling 10-year period.

The Ferguson Group Employee Share Purchase Plan 2021 provides for a limit of 20 million ordinary shares that can be
awarded under the plan subject to certain guidelines set forth in the plan that are consistent with the limits as described above.
The Ferguson Group Deferred Bonus Plan 2019, the Ferguson Group Ordinary Share Plan 2019 (the “OSP”) and the Ferguson
Group Performance Ordinary Share Plan 2019 (the “POSP™) each provides for the grant of equily awards without limitation on
the number of ordinary shares that can be awarded under the subject plan.

The OSP grants to employces share awards that vest over a period of time (“time vested”), typically three years. Dividends do
not accruc during the vesting period. The fair value of the award is based on share price on the date of grant.

Awards granted under the POSP vest at the end of a three-year performance cycle (“performance vested™). The number off :
ordinary sharcs granted upon vesting varies based upon the Company’s performance against an adjusted operating profit

measure. Dividends do not acerue during the vesting period. The fair value of the award is bascd on share price on the date of

grant,

Awards granted under the LLTIP vest at the end of a three-year pertormance period. The number of ordinary shares granied upon
vesling varies based on Company measurcs of inflation-indexed EPS, cash flow, and share performance compared with a peer
company sct. Bascd on the terms of this plan, the LTIP is ireated as a liability-settied plan. As such, the fair value is initially
determined at the date of grant, and is remcasured a1 each balance sheet date until the liability is scttled. Dividends acerue
during the vesting period.

The activity for fiscal 2022 with respect 1o all awards under the Company’s incentive plans is summarized in the following
table:

Weighted Average
Number of Shares  grant date fair value

Outstanding as July 31, 2021 1,824,615 $78.58
Time vested grants 78.818 134.29
Performance vested grants 184,404 134.25
Long-term incentive plan grants™ 20,084 142.56
Share adjustments based on performance 205,874 132.43
Vested (652,202) 65.58
Forfeited (85,037) 97.66

Outstanding at July 31, 2022 1,576,554 $100.03

) These awards are liability-settled awards,
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The vesting date fair value of time vested. performance vested awards and long-term incentive awards in fiscal 2022 was $94
million (2021: $60 million and 2020: $61 million). The weighted-average grant-date fair value per share of time vested,
performance vested awards and long-term incentive awards was $134.88 (2021: $98.53 and 2020: $75.48).

The Company recognized share-based compensation expense within SG&A in the fiscal 2022 consolidated statements of
earnings of' $37 million (2021: $77 million and 2020: $29 million). The total associated income tax benefit recognized in fiscal
2022 was $20 million {2021: $20 million and 2020: $12 million). Total unrecognized share-based payment expense for all
share-based payment plans was $62 million at July 31, 2022, which is expected to be recognized over a weighted average
period of 1.7 years.

As of July 31, 2022, 19.8 million ordinary shares remain available for allotment under the rules of the Ferguson Group
Employee Share Purchase Plan 2021. The exercise price per ordinary share will be prescribed by the Board for each offering
period and may not be less than 85% of the lesser of the market value ot an ordinary share on the date of grant and the market
value of an ordinary share on the date of exercise. During fiscal 2022, there were approximately 122,218 shares purchased
under the prior employee sharesave plan at an average price of $106.50.

For additional information about the Company share-based compensation plans, see Part IIl, Ttem 11: Executive Compensation
- Employee Share Schemes.

Note 16: Acquisitions

The Company acquired the following businesses during fiscal 2022. Each of the acquired businesses are engaged in the
distribution of plumbing and heating products and was primarily acquired to support growth, primarily in the United States. All
transactions have been accounted for by the acquisition method of accounting.

Country of
Name Date of acquisition incorporation Equity/asset deal Acquired %
Meyer Electric Co. September 2021 USA Asset 100 %
Sunstate Meter & Supply, Inc. October 2021 Uusa Assel 100 %
Safe Step Walk-In Tub Company, Inc. November 2021 USA Assel 100 %
Royal Pacific Limited November 2021 USA Equity 100 %
Hot Water Products, Inc. December 2021 1JSA Asset 100 %
Plumbers Supply Company of St. Louis January 2022 USA Asset 100 %
Adirondack Piping Solutions, Inc. February 2022 USA Asset 100 %
A.P. Supply Co. March 2022 USA Asset 100 %
Lighting and Appliance incorporated April 2022 USA Asset 100 %
IF'ounders Kitchen and Bath. Inc. Aprii 2022 USA Asset 100 %
Canadian Safe-Step Tubs, Inc. May 2022 CA Asset 100 %
Safe-Step Tubs Northwest Inc. May 2022 LISA Equity 100 %
Aaron & Company, Inc. May 2022 UsA Equity 100 %
Triton Environmental, LLC June 2022 USA Asset 100 %
D2 Land & Water Resource, Inc. July 2022 USA Asset 100 %
Minka Lighting, L1.C July 2022 USA Equity 100 %
Rybak Engineering, Inc. July 2022 USA Asset 100 %
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The assets and liabilities acquired and the consideration for these acquisitions are as follows:
Year ended July 31,

(In millions) 2022
Intangible assets:

Trade names and brands 527

Customer relationships 282

Other 17
Right of use assets 65
Property, plant and equipment 11
Inventories 139
Trade and other receivables 91
Cash, cash equivalents and bank overdrafts i8
Lease liabilitics (65)
Trade and other payables {68)
Deferred tax (17
Provisions (1}

Total 499

Goodwill 224
Consideration $723
Satisfied by:

Cash $668

Deferred consideration $55

Total consideration $723

The fair values of the assets acquired are considered preliminary and are based on management’s best estimates. Further
adjustments may be nccessary when additional information becomes available about events thal existed at the date of
acquisition. Amendments to fair valuc estimates may be made to these figures in the 12 months following the date of
acquisition. As of the datc of this Annual Report, the Company has madc all known material adjustments.

The fair value estimates of intangible assets are considered non-recurring, Level 3 measurements within the fair value hierarchy
and are estimated as of each respeclive acquisition date.

The goodwill on thesc acquisitions is attributable to the anticipated profitability of the new markets and product ranges to which
the Company has gained access and additional profitability, operating efficienci¢s and other synergies available in connection
with existing markets. Sec note 7 tor the allocation of acquired goodwill between the United States and Canada segments.

Deferred consideration represents the expected payout due to certain sellers of acquired businesses and is considered a non-cash
investing activity as of the date of acquisition. The liability is cstimated using assumptions regarding the expectations ol an
acquirce’s ability to achieve operating targets, as detined in the purchase agreements. over a period of time that typically spans
one to three years. Deterred consideration for all current year and prior yvear acquisitions was recorded at the maximum value as
it was deemed probable that the performance iargets would be achieved.

The businesses acquired in fiscal 2022 coniributed $227 million to net sales and $8 million loss to the Company’s income
before income tax, including acquired intangible amortization, transaction and integration costs for the period between the date
of acquisition and the balance sheel date.

If each acquisition had been completed on the first day of the financial period, the Company’s net sales in fiscal 2022 would
have been $29,105 million (2021: $23.510 million). The impact on income before income tax in fiscal 2022 and 2021,
including additional amortization, transaction and integration costs, would not be material.
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The net outflow of cash in respect of the purchase of businesses is as follows:

Year ended
July 31,

(In millions) 2022 2021
Purchase consideration 5668 $299
Cash, casli equivalents and bank overdrafis acquired (18) (3
Cash consideration paid, net of cash acquired 650 286
Deferred and contingent consideration paid for prior years’ acquisitions'” 22 49
Net cash outflow in respect of the purchase of businesses $672 $335

(}) included in other financing activities in the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Note 17: Discontinued operations and disposals

On January 29, 2021, the Company disposed of the shares in its UK. business, Wolseley UK Limited. As such, the disposal
group has been presented as a discontinued operation.

The results from discontinued operations, which have been included in the consolidated statements of earnings are as follows:

Year ended Juty 31,

(En millions, except per share amounts) 2022 2021 2020

Net sales $— $1,138 $1,879
Cost of sales — (879) (1,440)
Gross profit — 259 439
Selling, general and administrative expenses - (194 (417)
Depreciation and amortization _— {11 (43)
Gain (foss) on disposal of business, net 23 {200) —
Income (loss) before income tax 23 {146) 2n
Provision for income laxes — {12) 9
Income (loss) from discontinued operations $23 ($158) ($12)
Eamings per share - Basic $0.11 (30.70) ($0.05)
Earnings per share - Diluted $0.10 ($0.70) (30.05)

In fiscal 2022, the gain on disposal of business comprised & gain on the sale of land in conncction with the Company’s former
Nordic operations that were disposed of in a prior year, generating $24 million in cash flow from investing activities.

In fiscal 2021, the net loss on disposal of business primarily related to the disposal of the U.K. business, Wolseley UK Limited,
comprising a loss on dispoesal of $449 million of the U.K. business, partialty offset by a $235 million gain from the
reclassification of currency translation adjustiments from accumulated other comprehensive loss into income following the
abandonment of former linancing subsidiaries, as well as a $14 million gain on a prior year’s disposal of nssets.

Note 18: Related party transactions

For fiscal 2022, the Company purchased $22 million (2021: $24 million and 2020: $18 million) of delivery, installation and
related administrative services from companies that are, or are indirect wholly owned subsidiarics of companies that are,
controtled or significantly influcnced by a Ferguson Non-Executive Director. No material amounts are due to such companics.
The scrvices are purchascd on an arm’s-length basis.

Approved by the Board of Ferguson plc and signed on its
behalf by:
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